# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Akash Shanmugam

April 10, 2023

A Tale of Two Opioids:

Comparing the Potency of Methadone and Morphine in

Analgesia and Abuse Liability in Female Mice

by

Akash Shanmugam

Dr. David Weinshenker

Advisor

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Dr. David Weinshenker

Advisor

Dr. Shannon Gourley

Committee Member

Dr. Rohan Palmer

Committee Member

Dr. Arri Eisen

**Committee Member** 

2023

A Tale of Two Opioids:

Comparing the Potency of Methadone and Morphine in

Analgesia and Abuse Liability in Female Mice

by

Akash Shanmugam

Dr. David Weinshenker

Advisor

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors Neuroscience & Behavioral Biology 2023

#### Abstract

#### A Tale of Two Opioids:

Comparing the Potency of Methadone and Morphine in Analgesia and Abuse Liability in Female Mice

The potential use of methadone as an analgesic has long been debated due to its potent antinociceptive properties and lower abuse liability when compared to canonical opioids such as morphine, the current gold standard of first-line analgesia. While both morphine and methadone induce activation of the central analgesic and reward circuits through stimulation of the muopioid receptor (MOR), recent research has suggested that differences in the abuse liability between methadone and morphine may be mediated by a heteromer formed by MOR and the galanin 1 receptor (GalR1). Methadone and morphine have similar potency for the MOR alone, but methadone is much less potent at activating the heteromer. Importantly, GalR1 and MOR coexpression appears to be mostly limited to the reward circuitry, whereas neurons that comprise the central analgesic circuits express either MOR or GalR1, suggesting a potential mechanism for the lower abuse liability of methadone. However, very few studies have directly compared morphine- and methadone-induced reward and analgesia. The purpose of this study was to compare the potencies of methadone and morphine in inducing analgesia (using von Frey and hot plate assays) and abuse liability (using conditioned place preference; CPP) in female mice. RNAScope in situ hybridization was used to characterize the co-expression of MOR and GalR1 mRNA in GABAergic neurons in the rostromedial tegmental nucleus (RMTg) following the CPP paradigm to determine whether intermittent opioid exposure potentially alters heteromer abundance in a key node of the brain reward circuit. We found that while methadone required a

higher dose than morphine to induce a CPP, both drugs required similar doses to induce analgesia in both mechanical and thermal antinociception tests. Neither drug induced changes in MOR or GalR1 mRNA, nor the degree of co-expression, following CPP administration. These results are consistent with the idea that the MOR-GalR1 heteromer is critical for opioid-induced reward but not analgesia and support further consideration of methadone as a first line analgesic and the MOR-GalR1 heteromer as a target for opioid misuse therapies. A Tale of Two Opioids:

Comparing the Potency of Methadone and Morphine in

Analgesia and Abuse Liability in Female Mice

by

Akash Shanmugam

Dr. David Weinshenker

Advisor

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors Neuroscience & Behavioral Biology 2023

#### Acknowledgements

The project would not have been possible without the amazing group of people who were a part of this journey. I would first like to thank Dr. David Weinshenker, who allowed me to conduct work in his laboratory and supported me throughout the development of my thesis. I will always remember our elevator pitch practices that were so helpful in articulating my projects. Most of all, he believed in me and trusted that I would figure things out even when I struggled during my time in his lab. I would like to thank the rest of my committee – Dr. Shannon Gourley, Dr. Rohan Palmer, and Dr. Eisen. Their expertise and support were very helpful throughout the development of my project.

I would also like to thank the members of the Weinshenker Lab. Dr. Kate McCann was invaluable in helping me figure out experimental logistics and challenging me to be a more independent researcher. Although I have ways to go, I know that I am a better researcher because of Kate's encouragement. Michael Kelberman was my graduate mentor on my first project and immersed me into this experience. I am so grateful that he took me under his wing. Since then, he helped me with project development, specifically with the nociception assays in this thesis. In addition to them, I have been mentored and helped by so many amazing people in this lab – Samantha, who was such a positive light and developed the CPP portion of this project; Alexa, who made me a more confident reader of academic literature in her course; Anu, who was an extremely helpful mentor and friend; Janhavi, who helped me with CPP runs and RMTg sectioning; and so many others. And of course, my amazing undergraduate peers – Joyce, Alexia, Arielle, Eugene – were always a source of support throughout my time in the lab. I am truly

grateful for the Weinshenker lab, and I feel like a more confident researcher at the end of this journey.

I would be remiss if I didn't mention my personal sources of support during this journey. My mom and dad were always at the other end of phone calls after long days in lab to encourage me despite the difficult moments. Nishant, Manish, and Sabina always made me feel like I was not alone in this journey and related to my struggles in lab. While she may not have understood a lot, Simran always listened to my elevator pitches/presentations and was there to cheer me on during my successes and lift me up after frustrating moments. This journey was made so much easier because I had these people by my side.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction1
Background on Opioid Epidemic1
The Effects of Morphine and Other Opioids on the Reward and Analgesic Circuits2
Methadone as an Alternative Opioid Analgesic5
The Galanin System May Mediate Methadone's Low Abuse Liability6
Signal Transduction and Expression following Opioid Activation
Studying Abuse Liability via Conditioned Place Preference12
Studying Analgesia via Antinociception Assays13
Figure 1: Sites of MOR expression and GalR1 expression in the mouse brain15
Study Aims15
Prediction16
Methods16
Animals16
Conditioned Place Preference (CPP)17
Figure 2: CPP apparatus and chamber cues18
Nociception Assays
Figure 3: Thermal and Mechanical Antinociception Assays19
Von Frey Filaments Test19
Hot Plate Test

Tissue Collection20
RNAScope Assay of RMTg20
Image Analysis22
Statistical Analysis22
<i>Timeline</i>
Results and Discussion23
Figure 4. Methadone induces preference in female mice starting at 1 mg/kg25
Figure 5. Morphine induces preference in female mice starting at 0.3 mg/kg28
Figure 6. Methadone and morphine induce analgesia in female mice starting at 10 mg/kg31
Figure 7. Identifying Location of RMTg using TH and GAD expression
Figure 8. Intermittent morphine or methadone exposure during CPP does not induce changes in
GalR1 or MOR mRNA expression37
Figure 9. Intermittent morphine or methadone exposure during CPP does not induce changes in
GalR1 or MOR puncta that is dependent on the level of expression39
Conclusion42
Works Cited

## A Tale of Two Opioids:

Comparing the Potency of Methadone and Morphine in Analgesia and Abuse Liability in Female Mice

## Introduction

## **Background on Opioid Epidemic**

Since the 1990s, the United States has grappled with the opioid epidemic, a major public health crisis that took the lives of 50,000 people in 2019 (CDC, 2019). The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the impact of this epidemic by isolating those who struggle with opioid abuse and reducing access to treatment programs, as the CDC reported a 30% increase in deaths related to drug overdoses in 2020 compared to the previous year (Kariisa et al., 2022). While this crisis has affected all demographics, women are especially vulnerable to opioid misuse because they experience dramatically higher rates of long-term opioid use and prescription overdoses (Campbell et al., 2010; Unick et al., 2013). Opioid misuse and the subsequent risk for overdoses often begin with prescription drugs given in a clinical setting (Omidian et al., 2022). Indeed, when compared to men who struggled with opioid abuse, higher percentages of women reported experiencing an opioid for the first time as a legitimate prescription for pain (Cicero et al., 2008). After reporting chronic pain to their physicians, women were prescribed opioids more often than men, even in situations such as headaches where the opioid has no reported efficacy in ameliorating symptoms (Cicero et al., 2009). While these findings demonstrate a need for improvement in clinical practice guidelines around pain management in women, a greater understanding of opioid abuse liability in female rodent models could also help address addiction in this demographic.

#### The Effects of Morphine and Other Opioids on the Reward and Analgesic Circuits

Morphine, a commonly prescribed opiate, has historically been considered the gold standard for the control of severe pain (Pergolizzi et al., 2008). However, morphine and other opioids are often abused for the pleasurable feelings they produce (Kosten and George, 2002). The neurobiology of the hedonic feelings associated with opioid abuse liability is rooted in the mesolimbic reward circuit, a dopaminergic pathway in the brain (Bozarth and Wise, 1981; Xi and Stein, 2000). The dopaminergic cell bodies originate in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain, primarily projecting to the nucleus accumbens (NAc), basolateral amygdala (BLA), and medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) among other target regions in the limbic forebrain (Koob, 1992; Lammel et al., 2008). The rewarding effects of opioids involve the dopaminergic transmission from the VTA (Nestler, 2005). Systemic morphine administration potentiates the strength of local field potentials in the VTA, and when acutely injected into the VTA, morphine facilitates intracranial electrical self-stimulation reward (Ahmadi-Soleimani et al., 2018; Wolfswinkel and van Ree, 1985). Through c-Fos immunohistochemistry, heroin has been shown to activate the NAc-projecting dopaminergic neurons in the VTA and increase dopamine release in the NAc, highlighting the VTA-NAc pathway (Corre et al., 2018). This pathway's role in the reinforcing properties of opioids has been confirmed, as either optogenetic or chemogenetic silencing of these dopaminergic neurons blocks heroin self-administration (Galaj et al., 2020; Corre et al., 2018). Thus, it is generally accepted that the VTA-NAc dopaminergic pathway plays a critical role in the abuse liability of both prescription and non-prescription opioids.

Opioids like morphine exert their effects on this circuit through the activation of the muopioid receptor (MOR). MOR knockout mice lack both morphine-induced analgesia and rewardseeking behaviors (Matthes et al., 1999; David et al., 2008). When compared to other opioid receptors, activation of the MOR produces the strongest analgesic actions but also the highest reward and reinforcement (Gruber et al., 2007). MOR agonists inhibit GABAergic neurons that project onto and tonically inhibit dopaminergic neurons in the VTA, and this disinhibition causes the dopamine release associated with the rewarding effects of opioids (Kelle et al., 1980; Gysling and Wang, 1983; Steffensen et al., 2006). MOR agonists specifically inhibit GABAergic inputs to VTA dopaminergic neurons at presynaptic sites, indicating that MORs are located on axon terminals as confirmed by electron microscopic immunohistochemistry (Zhang et al., 2015). MOR activation in the VTA also activates regions that receive dopaminergic afferents, including the NAc, BLA, and ACC, demonstrating that MOR agonists engage the mesolimbic reward circuit (Campos-Jurado et al., 2019). Structural assessments of the agonist-receptor efficacy show that various MOR agonists preferentially engage distinct transmembrane helices of the MOR and induce different conformational changes in the receptor, which are thought to contribute to different efficacies of MOR agonists (Ricarte et al., 2021). MORs are expressed throughout the brain, and as such, the VTA receives GABAergic inputs from both local interneurons and distal brain areas (Erbs et al., 2015; Beier et al., 2015). The local GABAergic interneurons in the VTA were initially assumed to regulate the disinhibition of dopaminergic neurons by opioids, but the rostromedial tegmental nucleus (RMTg) is now thought to represent a significant region that sends dense opioid-sensitive GABAergic inputs into the VTA (Johnson and North, 1992; Matsui and Williams, 2011). MORs are enriched in the RMTg, with ~70% of GABAergic neurons containing mRNA for the receptor in the rat (Galaj et al., 2020). The inhibition from opioid activation is largely evoked from the RMTg, and substantially less from other contributors of GABAergic input from the NAc and local VTA neurons (Matsui et al, 2014). While stimulation of RMTg neurons elicits a complete suppression of dopaminergic

activity, morphine depresses inhibition of dopaminergic neurons after RMTg stimulation (Lecca et al., 2012). Reducing GABA release from the RMTg attenuates opioid-induced excitation of dopaminergic neurons, and selective inactivation of RMTg neurons blocks dopaminergic neural activity in the VTA after local infusions of morphine, demonstrating the RMTg's critical role in the reward circuit (de Guglielmo et al., 2014; Jalabert et al., 2011). Although the mesolimbic reward circuit is likely the largest contributor to the hedonic feelings associated with opioid use, dopamine-deficient mice, mice locally treated with dopamine receptor antagonists in the NAc, and chemical lesioning of dopaminergic terminals in the NAc have all failed to completely block opioid reward-seeking behaviors, suggesting the presence of other non-dopaminergic opioid reward pathways (Hnasko et al., 2005; Pettit et al., 1984; Gerrits and van Ree, 1996). Despite some conflicting evidence, the VTA-NAc dopaminergic circuit remains a key substrate for the neurobiological basis of opioid reward.

Opioid activation of MORs throughout the central nervous system is also thought to be a major mechanism of opioid-induced analgesia. In the midbrain, MOR agonists can produce antinociceptive effects through the periaqueductal gray (PAG), where the sum effect is activation of descending inhibitory neurons (Depaulis et al., 1987; Pathan and Williams, 2012). GABAergic inhibition of cells in the PAG has been shown to block nociceptive transmission at the spinal level via the activation of rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) off-cells and inhibition of the region's on-cells (Behbehani et al., 1990; Moreau and Fields, 1986; Foo and Helmstetter, 2000). Ultimately, these actions of MOR agonists result in the reduction of nociceptive transmission from the periphery. Indeed, intra-PAG microinfusion of the MOR antagonist naltrexone blocks the antinociceptive effects of systemic morphine administration in rats, indicating the PAG's critical role in opioid analgesia (Lane et al., 2005). However, opioids also

can directly inhibit the substantia gelatinosa in the dorsal horn and peripheral afferent nociceptive neurons (Pathan and Williams, 2012). While the reward and analgesic pathways are distinct, MOR agonists like morphine can offer therapeutic value through analgesia but come with the unfortunate side effect of high abuse liability, contributing to the current opioid epidemic.

#### Methadone as an Alternative Opioid Analgesic

In an effort to find solutions to this epidemic, researchers have begun to search for an opioid with lower abuse liability that could replace morphine and other prescription opioids with high addiction potential. One promising candidate is the synthetic opioid methadone, which is effective at decreasing opioid-related cravings in patients with opioid use disorder (Fareed et al., 2011). In patients struggling with opioid use disorder, methadone treatment has been proven to reduce overdose events and opioid-related acute care (Dole and Nyswander, 1965; Wakeman et al., 2020). Animal models show similar results; for example, heroin-dependent rats fail to maintain reward-seeking behaviors when heroin is replaced with methadone (Peng et al., 2010). As a result of this evidence, methadone has been primarily utilized for maintenance therapy because of its slow acting but long-lasting effects (Kreek et al., 2010). These unique characteristics of methadone can be attributed to slower liver metabolism and release into the blood compared to morphine and other opioids (Kreek et al., 1978; Inturrisi et al., 1984). While both methadone and morphine cross the blood-brain barrier via similar transporters like the Pglycoprotein, brain uptake of methadone is significantly higher than morphine (Chaves et al., 2017; Dagenais et al., 2003). Although methadone appears to have potential as a first-line analgesic, its use for patients with severe pain continues to be disputed (Bruera et al., 2004; Moreira de Barros et al., 2021). One issue is that methadone shows higher pharmacokinetic

variability in individuals due to its long half-life when compared to morphine (Eap et al., 2012). Another limitation is that, when used inappropriately for pain control, methadone can cause severe respiratory depression that eventually leads to death (Grissinger, 2011; Ehret et al., 2007). Given these controversies, further investigation into the differential molecular mechanisms and physiological effects of methadone and morphine are warranted.

#### The Galanin System May Mediate Methadone's Low Abuse Liability

The mechanisms that explain abuse liability differences between methadone and morphine are not yet clear. While the MOR-initiated reward pathway broadly characterizes opioid molecular action, pharmacodynamic analysis indicates that both methadone and morphine have very similar potency and efficacy when interacting with the MOR (Cai et al., 2019). Galanin, a neuropeptide, is widely distributed in the mammalian brain and regulates a diverse set of physiological processes including mood, neuronal survival, pain, food intake, and metabolism (Tatemoto et al., 1983; Perez et al., 2001; Lang et al., 2015; Weinshenker and Holmes, 2016). Importantly for the purposes of this study, accumulating evidence indicates that galanin modulates dopamine transmission and opioid reward. For example, administration of galanin inhibits dopamine release in rat striatal slices (Tsuda et al., 1998). While galanin does not induce preference or aversion on its own, it attenuates morphine-induced conditioned place preference, providing evidence for an antagonistic interaction between galanin and opioids (Zachariou et al., 1999). Galanin knockout mice showed enhanced morphine place preference and increased opioid induced ERK and CREB phosphorylation in NAc and BLA, while administration of galanin agonists attenuate the behavioral and neurochemical changes induced by morphine (Hawes et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2013). Together, these data suggest that galanin opposes opioid reward, but potential underlying mechanisms were not identified until recently.

Galanin signals through 3 G-protein coupled receptors: GalR1, GalR2, and GalR3. GalR1 is hypothesized to contribute to the different abuse liabilities of morphine and methadone. GalR1 is G<sub>i</sub>-coupled and located in brain regions associated with opioid-sensitive behaviors including the VTA, RMTg, substantia nigra, and the nucleus accumbens, implicating the receptor in the dopaminergic activation related to substance abuse (Kerr et al., 2015; Foster et al., 2021; our unpublished data). When GalR1 and MOR are expressed in the same cells, these receptors preferentially form a heteromer with antagonistic interactions that alter the function of the MOR, especially when the ligand for GalR1, galanin, is present. By contrast, GalR2 does not form heteromers with MOR (Moreno et al., 2017; Cai et al., 2019). In a functional assessment of MOR-GalR1 interactions with bioluminescence resonance energy transfer (BRET) in human embryonic kidney cells, both MOR and GalR1 individually promoted activation of G<sub>i</sub> proteins with their respective agonists, with all opioids (including morphine and methadone) showing similar potencies in activating the MOR G<sub>i</sub> protein. However, when MOR and GalR1 were coexpressed in the same cell, each receptor's agonists promoted activation of G<sub>i</sub> proteins, but methadone had a significantly lower potency than other opioids at activating the MOR-GalR1 heteromer G<sub>i</sub> protein. To investigate heteromeric effects on downstream signaling, basal and forskolin-induced cAMP formation was studied in cells transfected with GalR1 and MOR. In cells expressing GalR1 or MOR individually, respective receptor agonists did not modify basal levels of cAMP but decreased forskolin-induced cAMP formation, indicating that both receptors individually signal via activation of their Gi-protein. However, in cells co-expressing GalR1 and MOR, GalR1 agonists increased basal cAMP formation and did not decrease forskolin-induced cAMP, suggesting that the heteromeric GalR1 switches from signaling via activation of their Giprotein to G<sub>s</sub>-protein. This evidence points to the MOR-GalR1 heteromer mediating differences

between methadone and other opioids via antagonist  $G_s$ -  $G_i$  interactions between the GalR1 and MOR proteins (De Oliveira et al., 2022).

Using downstream kinase phosphorylation after administration of selective receptor agonists of MOR and GalR1, biochemical markers for heteromeric activation could be identified in rat VTA slices, suggesting that this heteromer exists at critical sites along the mesolimbic reward circuit. To provide evidence for the heteromers as a mediator for opioid reward, these intracellular changes were correlated to dopaminergic changes in the VTA. Most MOR agonists increased dopamine release in the VTA, which was attenuated by co-administration of galanin. Moreover, this inhibitory action of galanin was prevented by the presence of a synthetic peptide that selectively disrupted MOR-GalR1 heteromeric interactions. This study furthers supports the role of GalR1-MOR heteromers in the reward circuit, as the heteromer modulates cell signaling pathways that ultimately cause dopamine release that is critical for the rewarding properties of opioids (Moreno et al., 2017). When directly comparing the ability of morphine and methadone to activate the GalR1-MOR heteromers through BRET assays or dopamine release in freely moving rats, methadone had a significantly lower potency. Critically, the GalR1-MOR interfering peptide increased methadone-induced dopamine release, suggesting that the heteromer mediates the potency differences between morphine and methadone explains why methadone has lower abuse liability than morphine (Cai et al., 2019). To summarize, when MOR is expressed alone, methadone and other MOR agonists have similar effects, but when GalR1 heteromerizes with MOR, methadone loses potency. Because most MORs in the reward circuit but not the pain circuit appear to be in complex with GalR1, methadone may have reduced abuse liability while maintaining robust analgesic properties (Cai et al., 2019).

#### Signal Transduction and Expression following Opioid Activation

It is important to note that mechanisms beyond the MOR-GalR1 heteromer may explain differences in methadone and morphine abuse liability. Following receptor activation and continued presence of agonists, the MOR is phosphorylated by a G-protein-coupled receptor kinase, preventing further immediate stimulation (Ferguson et al., 1998). Depending on the agonist, the MOR then binds  $\beta$ -arrestin with high affinity and gets trafficked into early endosomes as  $\beta$ -arrestin links phosphorylated receptors to clathrin-coated pits and promotes endocytosis (Zastrow et al., 2003). The MOR depends on phosphatase action to get recycled back to the plasma membrane or trafficked to lysosomes for destruction (Tanowitz and von Zastrow, 2003). Continued agonist action on the MOR can lead to the removal of the receptor from the membrane (He et al., 2002). Indeed, repeated morphine exposure causes tolerance through a downregulation of MOR abundance, as shown by decreases in MOR density in the mouse striatum and downregulation of oPRM1-gene mRNA expression (Petruzzi et al., 1997; Prenus et al., 2012).

Although the MOR mediates the action of both methadone and morphine, these ligands may operate using distinct signal transduction pathways and intracellular signaling proteins in a biased fashion. While methadone promotes significant internalization following phosphorylation, morphine does not show evidence for MOR internalization or translocation from the cell membrane to the cytoplasm (Ma et al., 2020; Arttamangkul et al., 2008; Arden et al., 1995; Keith et al., 1996). When compared to wild-type mice where methadone antinociception does not change over chronic administration, methadone at a 10 mg/kg dose produces tolerance in an animal model where the MOR is mutated to be targeted for degradation following endocytosis, suggesting that MOR is normally recycled back to the plasma membrane following internalization (Enquist et al., 2012). Methadone treatment also shows no differences in MOR recovery from desensitization in the noradrenergic locus coeruleus (LC), while morphine shows substantially lower recovery from desensitization. These findings were correlated with lower trafficking of MOR back to the plasma membrane following morphine treatment, but not methadone treatment (Quillinan et al., 2011). When compared to methadone, the relative efficacy of morphine to promote MOR internalization is much lower than the efficacies of morphine to activate G-protein signaling or promote rapid desensitization, suggesting that the difference in internalization is a critical driver in mediating differences between methadone and morphine (Borgland et al., 2003). These findings indicate that while morphine induces homeostatic adaptations for MOR regulation, MOR is quickly trafficked back to the membrane following activation by methadone. Morphine's mechanism of action to prevent entrance in the recycling pathway is suggested to be the persistent phosphorylation of carboxy-terminal residue 375, while other MOR-agonists like methadone induce phosphorylation that can quickly be dephosphorylated for MOR recycling (Schulz et al., 2004). After morphine treatment, the MOR may also be phosphorylated with Protein Kinase C (PKC) at Serine-375 or Protein Kinase A and require phosphatases that take much longer to dephosphorylate the receptor for reactivation (Bailey et al., 2004; Schulz et al., 2004; Bernstein and Welch, 1998; Gabra et al., 2007). To a certain extent, all 11 phosphorylation sites on the MOR's C terminus are suggested to play a role in the development of tolerance (Arttamangkul et al., 2019). Despite a lack of clarity regarding its mechanism, internalization and endocytosis may be critical to understanding the differences in the impact of between chronic methadone and morphine treatment.

Some studies suggest that these differences between MOR agonists may be mediated by the binding of  $\beta$ -arrestin. In human embryonic kidney cells that modelled MOR function and  $\beta$ -

arrestin-2 recruitment following activation by its agonists, MORs showed significant internalization and dose-dependent increases in  $\beta$ -arrestin-2 recruitment following activation by methadone, but not morphine (Doi et al., 2016). These findings support methadone's characterization as a β-arrestin-biased MOR agonist, while morphine may preferentially operate through a more traditional G-protein-biased activation pathway. However, this study's finding conflicts with results showing that chronic morphine attenuates analgesic tolerance and enhances conditioned place preference in  $\beta$ -arrestin-2 knockout mice, suggesting that  $\beta$ -arrestin-2 does play a role in morphine analgesic and reward potency (Bohn et al., 2003; Raehal and Bohn, 2011; Quillinan et al., 2011). Studies involving these  $\beta$ -arrestin-2 knockout mice have been limited by concerns of mixed genetic backgrounds as a confounding factor in the experimental design (Kliewer et al., 2020). However, downregulation of  $\beta$ -arrestin-2 expression via antisense RNAs produce similar responses in mice (Bu et al., 2014). Another potential explanation is that the  $\beta$ -arrestin-2 knockout or -depleted mice may potentially recruit compensatory mechanisms to induce G-protein signaling, even without  $\beta$ -arrestin. The  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated pathway has also been linked to ERK1/2 activation. Drugs of abuse, like cocaine and opioids, are associated with specific patterns of ERK1/2 activation, which have been correlated with activity in rewardrelated brain regions and rewarding behaviors (Berhow and Nestler, 1996; Valjent et al., 2000, Valjent et al., 2004). In LC neurons, disruption of both the GRK/ $\beta$ -arrestin-2 and ERK1/2 activation is required to abolish desensitization of the MOR following sustained activation by an agonist, while individually these pathways do not completely abolish MOR desensitization (Dang et al., 2009). ERK1/2 activation may simply be a selective downstream effect of GRK/ $\beta$ arrestin-2 activation, as ERK1/2 activation in striatal neurons requires transfection of arrestin that functions without the presence of GRK (Macey et al., 2007). Across many signal

transduction pathways, ERK1/2 activation leads to downstream phosphorylation events that eventually affects transcription factors (Chalmers et al., 2007). Most importantly, as shown later with GalR1, ERK1/2 activation and MOR gene expression are also regulated in a CREB- and cAMP- dependent manner, suggesting that expression of GalR1 and MOR share similar regulatory mechanisms (Ligeza et al., 2008; Shen et al., 2000; Lee and Lee, 2003). Other local regulation of MOR expression have been suggested to occur at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels through agents like miR-103, miR-107, microRNA 339, LncRNA MRAK159688, NFkappaB, and AP-1 (Lu et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2013; Gach et al., 2008; Deng et al., 2022). Epigenetic modulation, like DNA methylation and histone acetylation, may also be a mechanism for the regulation of MOR expression (Oertel et al., 2012; Wagley et al., 2017; Reid et al., 2022; Wei and Loh, 2011). Despite the presence of many regulatory mechanisms, differences of internalization and endocytosis following methadone and morphine treatment may be linked to MOR and GalR1 gene expression.

## Studying Abuse Liability via Conditioned Place Preference

One method to understand the abuse liability as a phenotype for opioids is conditioned place preference (CPP). CPP relies on Pavlovian learning to assess the rewarding properties of drugs. The CPP paradigm offers the opportunity to study the brain's formation of drug-context associations in a preclinical model and better understand how drug-associated contexts can evoke drug craving in humans (McKendrick and Graziane, 2020). In both animal and human studies, the association of environmental cues with opioids serves as a powerful mediator of the maintenance and recurrence of drug-seeking behaviors (Davis and Smith, 1976; Childress et al., 1986; Perry et al., 2014). In a clinical fMRI study of cue-elicited cravings in opioid-dependent patients, heroin-related environmental cues were associated with increases in activation of the VTA, indicating the role of the mesolimbic reward circuit in evoking drug cravings after exposure to opioid-associated cues (Zijlstra et al., 2008). As the association between environmental cues and opioid use requires learning and memory processes, evidence supports the presence of a neuronal circuit between the VTA and hippocampal CA3 region that is involved in the formation of morphine-induced place preference (McNamara et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2018). Contextual cues can be as behaviorally and biologically powerful as morphine itself, as conditioned drug cues evoked similar locomotion and ERK activity in the VTA and NAc when compared to morphine-induced responses (Crespo et al., 2022). In rodents, activation of the VTA-NAc dopaminergic system is critical for the induction of a CPP by morphine and other opioids (Harris et al., 2004; Soderman and Unterwald, 2008; Moaddab et al., 2009; Narita et al., 2010; Koo et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2021). Transient stimulation or inactivation of the VTA can also modulate morphine-induced place preference in rats (Alaei and Pour, 2021). This suggests that the molecular interactions of MOR agonists in this system have behavioral correlates that could be observed in a CPP paradigm. Morphine-induced place preference has been extensively studied in rodents, with a preference induced at doses as a low as 0.4 mg/kg and as high as 80 mg/kg, indicating the strength of the drug-context associations created by morphine (Mucha and Iversen, 1984; Blander et al., 1984; Mucha et al., 1982; Bardo et al., 1989). However, to our knowledge, methadone-induced CPP has not been rigorously examined.

## **Studying Analgesia via Antinociception Assays**

Methadone and morphine are also suggested to have different sites of activation along the analgesic circuit. For example, microinjections of morphine, but not methadone, into the PAG increases thermal antinociception (Morgan et al., 2014). When administered directly into the brain, naloxone, a competitive opioid receptor antagonist, blocks morphine antinociception but

does not block methadone antinociception. Conversely, systemically administered naloxone blocks methadone antinociception but has little effect on morphine antinociception (He et al., 2009). Together, these findings suggest that methadone antinociception depends on modulating transmission at peripheral opioid receptors, while morphine modulates nociceptive transmission at central opioid receptors on GABAergic neurons that project to regions like the PAG. Interestingly, unlike the brain regions that mediate opioid reward that co-express MOR and GalR1 and thus are capable of hosting heteromers, the MOR-expressing cells that mediate the analgesic properties of opioids do not appear to co-express GalR1, suggesting that methadone may be an effective analysic while having a reduced ability to trigger addiction (Figure 1). While morphine and methadone modulate nociceptive transmission at different sites, nociception assays can help directly compare the analgesic characteristics of opioids like morphine and methadone to better understand their effect on behavioral responses to painful stimuli (Mogil, 2019). Morphine provides strong dose- and time-dependent analgesic effects (Gades et al., 2000; Pantouli et al., 2020; Minami et al., 2009). Methadone has also shown similar dose-dependent analgesic effects in rodents (Holtman and Wala, 2007). However, the analgesic doses of methadone and morphine have not yet been rigorously compared in reference to their abuse liabilities in healthy naïve mice. Because methadone and morphine are hypothesized to have different effects on the VTA-dopaminergic system, each substance's dose response for their place preferences and analgesic effects should be directly compared and understood at the molecular level.



**Figure 1: Sites of MOR expression and GalR1 expression in the mouse brain.** While MOR alone is expressed in the analgesic circuits, both GalR1 and MOR are co-expressed in the reward circuit, suggesting that the heteromer mediates differences in the abuse liabilities of methadone and morphine but not analgesia.

# **Study Aims**

In this study, we explored whether methadone can be considered an alternative analgesic drug with lower abuse liability when compared to morphine in a preclinical mouse model. We identified the lowest dose at which a conditioned place reference is induced for methadone and morphine to draw conclusions about the relative abuse liabilities of each drug. We also conducted antinociception assays for methadone and morphine to identify the doses where a significant analgesic effect is produced. Finally, to explore potential differences in cellular responses to the two drugs, we investigated the effects of intermittent morphine and methadone administration during CPP testing on the relative co-expression of MOR and GalR1 mRNA in the RMTg. Although the effects of chronic exposure to morphine treatment can alter other opioid receptor levels in the mesocorticolimbic system (Yu and Gong, 2012). Very little is known about the ability of opioids to regulate GalR1 expression in these brain regions. This study will further

clarify methadone's potential use as a first-line analgesic in clinical treatment and add to our understanding of its molecular mechanism.

## Prediction

We predicted that morphine would induce a place preference at a lower dose than methadone because of morphine's more potent MOR-GalR1 heteromer binding and dopaminergic activation, while methadone and morphine would have similar analgesic dose-response curves. Because the MOR is easily recycled and endocytosed via recruitment of  $\beta$ -arrestin following methadone administration, morphine may induce greater down-regulation of receptor expression in the brain following intermittent activation of receptors. We expected that MOR and GalR1 coexpression in the RMTg would be lower in the morphine-treated mice, while methadone would not change co-expression.

## Methods

### Animals

While it would have been ideal to study both male and female mice, we exclusively used female C57BL/6J mice due to time constraints. Sex differences have been identified in the neural mechanisms and behavioral outcomes of opioid reward and addiction (Becker and Chartoff, 2019), and female rodents are more sensitive to opiate reward (Lynch and Carroll, 1999). These findings suggest that stronger differences in the analgesic properties and abuse liability between methadone and morphine are more likely to be observed in female mice than male mice. 30 mice were used for CPP with methadone and morphine (6-8 mice per group), and 45 mice were used for nociception assays with both morphine and methadone (6-8 mice per group).

## **Conditioned Place Preference (CPP)**

CPP experiments were conducted in a three-compartment chamber with one neutral compartment and two conditioning compartments (Figure 2). Each conditioning compartment had unique contextual cues, like a barred floor, light background, a lemongrass scent or a checkered floor, dark background, and an ethanol scent. On the first day, the mice were placed in the neutral compartment and given freedom to explore the entire chamber for 15 min. During this preconditioning day, the time spent in each conditioning compartment was recorded using ANYmaze software to measure the initial side preference. During the next 8 days of conditioning, the mice was administered subcutaneous injections of either drug or saline on alternating days and restricted to the appropriate conditioning chamber for 30 min. The drug was paired to the compartment that was on the less preferred side, and saline was paired with the more preferred compartment. The morphine and methadone doses were 0 mg/kg (saline), 0.3 mg/kg, 1 mg/kg, and 10 mg/kg. On the final test day, the mice were placed into neutral compartment and again given access to the entire chamber for 15 min. The time spent in each conditioning compartment was recorded, and the CPP score was calculated as the difference between the test day preference and initial preference.



**Figure 2: CPP apparatus and chamber cues.** Mice were first habituated in an open chamber, subcutaneously administered alternating days of saline and drug, and tested again in an open chamber. The change in preference was recorded.

# **Nociception Assays**

The analgesic characteristics of methadone and morphine were determined using a mechanical nociception assay (Von Frey Filaments Test) and a thermal nociception assay (Hot Plate Test) (Figure 3). These assays were chosen so that different aspects of antinociception could be measured in a preclinical model for methadone and morphine.



**Figure 3: Thermal and Mechanical Antinociception Assays.** The hot plate test (A) and von Frey filaments (B) were used in these experiments. A nociceptive reaction (paw-licking) is also shown below.

## **Von Frey Filaments Test**

The Von Frey test is a standard and validated measure of mechanical sensitivity (Deuis et al., 2017). The animals were habituated on a covered wire-mesh platform for 5 min prior to the assay. The mice were given a subcutaneous injection of saline or drug (morphine or methadone 0.3, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg) and given 30 min to habituate on the platform. Von Frey filaments were applied from the underside of the metal platform to the midplantar surface of the hind paw for up to 3 s to determine if a reaction was elicited. Lifting, licking, or shaking the hindpaw were considered positive reactions. The target force of the filaments ranged from 0.16 grams to 6

grams. The 50% mechanical threshold was determined using the up-down method, described previously (Dixon, 1965; Chaplan et al., 1993). If the animal withdrew the paw, a weaker hair was applied; if the animal did not display a response, the next stronger hair was applied. The maximum number of applications was 9, and the cutoff target force of filament was 6 grams. The surface of the platform was cleaned with 70% ethanol between each test.

#### **Hot Plate Test**

Two days after the von Frey test, the mice were given the hot plate test, a standard and validated measure of thermal nociception (Bannon and Malmberg, 2007; Deuis et al., 2017). The mice were first habituated to the hot plate at room temperature for 5 min. The mice were then injected subcutaneously with saline or drug (morphine or methadone 0.3, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg). 30 min later, mice were placed on a covered hot plate set to 52°C, and the latency to produce a nociceptive reaction that included lifting, licking, or shaking the paws was recorded. The mice were immediately removed after a nociceptive reaction was shown. If no responses were observed after 30 s, mice were removed from the hot plate. The surface of the hot plate was cleaned with 70% ethanol between each test.

## **Tissue Collection**

Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and quickly decapitated 3 h after the final CPP test. Brains were frozen in an OCT-filled cryomold submerged in isopentane chilled with dry ice and stored at -80°C until sectioning. The brains were sectioned at 16  $\mu$ m, and sections containing the RMTg were mounted on charged slides and stored at -80°C until the RNAscope assay.

# **RNAScope Assay of RMTg**

Sample pretreatment was performed as instructed using the RNAscope Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent Kit v2 Assay User Manual. Slides were removed from storage and immediately immersed in 4% PFA for 15 min. After rinsing the slides twice in 1X PBS, the slides were dehydrated using the following ethanol wash series for 5 min each: 50%, 70%, 100%, and 100%. The slides were air-dried for 5 min and then incubated in hydrogen peroxide for 10 min. The slides were washed in distilled water twice and then incubated in Protease IV for 30 min. The slides were washed twice in 1X PBS, and the experimental probe was added to each slide. Experiments analyzing GalR1 and MOR in GABAergic cells in the RMTg used mouse probes for GalR1 (ACD cat. 448821), MOR (ACD cat. 315841), and the GABAergic neuron marker glutamic acid decarbosylase (GAD; ACD cat. 400591). The RMTg was also located in one series of sections using GAD and dopaminergic cell marker tyrosine hydroxylase (TH; ACD cat. 317629). Mouse multiplex positive (ACD cat no. 320881) and multiplex negative (ACD cat no. 320871) control probes were used to validate experimental probe signal. The slides were then placed in a HybEZ Oven at 40°C for 2 h. After hybridization, the slides were washed twice in 1X wash buffer for 2 min. Three subsequent rounds of amplification and two washes with 1X wash buffer for 2 minutes were performed. HRP was added to each slide and incubated in the oven at 40°C for 15 min, and the slides were washed twice in 1X wash buffer for 2 min. Opal 520 was added to each slide, and two washes with 1X wash buffer for 2 min were performed. HRP blocker was added to each slide, and the slides were incubated in the oven at 40°C for 15 min. The slides were washed twice in 1X wash buffer for 2 min. The HRP signal development was repeated with Opal 570 and 690. Slides was then coverslipped using Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) and stored in the dark at room temperature overnight. All slides were imaged between 12 to 48 h after performing RNAscope.

### **Image Analysis**

For each mouse, 3 RMTg images were analyzed for the number of cells that express MOR alone, GalR1 alone, or MOR + GalR1. Sections were also co-labeled for GAD1 mRNA to characterize MOR-GalR1 co-expression specifically in GABAergic neurons. The outcome measures were the percentage of GABAergic neurons and non-GABAergic neurons that express MOR alone, GalR1 alone, or MOR + GalR1. Values were averaged across all sections from each individual mouse to obtain a single value, which was then used for comparisons between groups.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analysis and graphs were generated using Prism9 or ggplot (GraphPad, San Diego, CA). A repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by a priori planned post-hoc Sidak's multiple comparisons tests were conducted to compare the pre-test and post-test preference at each dose for methadone and morphine CPP. A one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparisons tests were used to compare the delta preference at each dose for methadone and morphine the delta preference at each dose for methadone and morphine the delta preference at each dose for methadone and morphine. A one-way ANOVA and Dunnet's multiple comparisons tests were conducted at each dose for methadone and morphine thermal antinociception and mechanical nociception scores. Pearson's correlation coefficient and a simple linear regression were conducted to compare the relationship between thermal antinociception and mechanical nociception scores. A two-way ANOVA was used to compare the percentage of GAD+ and GAD- cells that expressed MOR, GalR1, or both MOR and GalR1 puncta individually across treatment groups.

### Timeline

This project was conceptualized from September to November. The CPP experiments for methadone were run in 2 cohorts from December 10-20 and January 1-10. After receiving IACUC approval and identifying the appropriate parameters of each antinociception assay in January, the assays were run in February. In early March, the CPP experiments for morphine were run alongside additional nociception assays. In mid-March, the brains of the mice from the CPP experiments were sectioned for RNAscope and run through the procedure. The images from the RNAscope analysis were processed, and the data from the behavioral experiments was analyzed. I defended my thesis on March 31<sup>st</sup>. On April 10<sup>th</sup>, my thesis forms and ETD were submitted.

#### **Results and Discussion**

We first conducted methadone CPP and identified the lowest dose at which a preference was induced. One mouse in the saline group was excluded as an outlier using the Grubb's Test (Alpha = 0.05). A repeated measures two-way ANOVA was performed to compare the effect of dose and time of test. There were significant main effects of dose (F(3,35)=3.115, p=0.0385), time F(1,35)=23.19, p<0.0001), and a significant dose x time interaction (Figure 4A; F(3,35)=5.664, p=0.0029). Post hoc tests showed that only the 1 mg/kg (p=0.0007) and 10 mg/kg (p<0.0001) groups differed between pretest and posttest. A one-way ANOVA was also performed to assess the effect of dose on absolute change in preference for the non-preferred side compared to saline, and a statistically significant difference was found (Figure 4B; F(3,35)=5.664, p=0.0029). Post hoc tests again showed that the methadone-induced preference was only significantly different between the saline and 1 mg/kg (p=0.0117) and 10 mg/kg (p=0.0034) groups.



B)

Methadone Dose Response Comparison of  $\Delta$  Percent Preference (s)



24

**Figure 4. Methadone induces preference in female mice starting at 1 mg/kg.** A) Withinsubject comparison of time spent in non-preferred side during the pre-test trial and in the methadone-paired side during the post-test trial. ns=not significant; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.0001; repeated measures 2-way ANOVA with Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. B) Comparison of absolute change in percent preference between treatment groups. Shown is mean ± SEM. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; 1-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

We then conducted morphine CPP to determine the dose at which preference is induced. In a repeated measures two-way ANOVA, the main effect of time was found to be statistically significant (Figure 5A; F(1,34)=40.35, p<0.0001), while both dose and the interaction term were not significant. Sidak's multiple comparisons test revealed that preference was induced in the 0.3 mg/kg (p=0.0207), 1.0 mg/kg (p=0.0101), and 10 mg/kg (p=0.0003) groups. Preference was not induced in the saline group. A one-way ANOVA was also performed to determine effects of dose on absolute change in preference for the non-preferred side, and no significant differences were found (Figure 5B; F(3, 34) = 1.827, p=0.1607). However, trends towards a dose response curve could be seen for morphine. The lack of significant differences could be attributed to higher variability in the saline group, when compared to methadone's saline group. Half of our morphine cohort experienced a cage change on the morning of habituation day and were run by a different experimenter, causing them to be much more active and jumpier than expected. CPP is a sensitive assay as it relies on multiple sessions of associative learning, so small differences between cohorts can dramatically impact results. While the comparison of the magnitude of change in preference is another helpful lens through which CPP data can be understood, this plot does not directly address our aim of identifying the doses at which a significant preference is induced, which is better depicted by the analysis for Figure 5A that includes a within-subject

design and is not dependent on effect size. Thus, despite the lack of statistical significance in Figure 5B, we can still conclude that morphine induces a preference at 0.3 mg/kg.

While our data indicate that morphine induced a significant preference in female mice starting at 0.3 mg/kg, this dose of methadone failed to do so – at least 1 mg/kg was required. This result agrees with the initial prediction that a higher dose of methadone would be required to induce a place preference than morphine. The differences in preference-inducing properties of methadone and morphine also align with the previous study of MOR-agonist potency at presumptive MOR-GalR1 heteromers using BRET in cultured cells and dopamine release using microdialysis in freely moving rats (Cai et al., 2019). Very few studies have assessed methadone place preference in mice. After three conditioning sessions, one study found similar results, where a higher dose of methadone (3 mg/kg) (Holuj et al., 2013). However, an unconventional three-armed CPP apparatus was used in that study, and the effect of the number of conditioning sessions on place preference was also explored, interrupting regular CPP training paradigms prior to testing. Our study is the first to use a traditional CPP paradigm to study methadone's dose response for place preference in female mice.


B)

Morphine Dose Response Comparison of  $\Delta$  Percent Preference (s)



27

**Figure 5. Morphine induces preference in female mice starting at 0.3 mg/kg.** A) Withinsubject comparison of time spent in non-preferred side during the pre-test trial and in the morphine-paired side during the post-test trial. ns=not significant; \*P<0.05; \*\*\*P<0.001; repeated measures 2-way ANOVA with Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. B) Comparison of absolute change in percent preference between treatment groups. Shown is mean ± SEM. 1-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

After identifying differences between methadone and morphine reward, we then compared the analgesic properties of the two drugs using the von Frey test as a measure of mechanical antinociception and the hot plate test as a measure of thermal antinociception. Oneway ANOVAs showed dose to be significant for both methadone (Figure 6A; F(4, 39)=24.12, p<0.0001) and morphine (Figure 6A; F(4, 39)=20.72, p<0.0001). Dunnett's multiple comparisons tests revealed that mechanical antinociception was only induced in the 10 mg/kg group for both methadone (p<0.0001) and morphine (p<0.0001) when compared to the saline group. After conducting the hot plate test, we also conducted one-way ANOVAs for thermal antinociception. Again, the test showed dose to be significant for both methadone (Figure 6B; F(4,37)=56.88, p<0.0001) and morphine (Figure 6B; F(4,38)=67.33, p<0.0001). Dunnett's multiple comparisons tests showed that thermal antinociception was only induced in the 10 mg/kg group for both methadone (p<0.0001) and morphine (p<0.0001) when compared to the saline group. Interestingly, the thermal antinociception scores and mechanical antinociception scores showed a strong, positive correlation (Figure 6C; r = 0.78). As such, a high thermal antinociception score was likely to predict a high mechanical antinociception score, and vice versa, suggesting that individual mice have similar nociceptive and antinociceptive responses to thermal and mechanical pain. The antinociception scores from the morphine and methadone 10

mg/kg treatments appeared to drive this positive correlation, as shown by most of these points in the upper right quadrant of the plot. Together, these findings indicate that, at the doses we tested, methadone and morphine possess similar analgesic potencies. This is consistent with the lack of GalR1 and MOR co-expression/presumptive heteromer formation in analgesic centers of the central nervous system.

Differences in analgesia between methadone and morphine have been well explored in rodents. When directly compared in mice, methadone and morphine have been shown to produce similar analgesia. One study using a standard hot plate test showed that methadone and morphine produced 50% of their maximal antinociceptive effect at similar doses (Fischer et al., 2005). In another study, a dose response effect for both methadone and morphine analgesia was observed in male Swiss-Albino mice using standard hot plate test, showing similar analgesia induced by both drugs at their ED<sub>80</sub> doses (Lewanowitsch et al., 2006). These finding aligns with our results that thermal analgesia is produced at similar doses for these MOR agonists, and suggest that the similarity in the antinociceptive effect of morphine and methadone might be a general property and not restricted solely to C57BL/6 mice. The comparison of methadone and morphine in rats is not as conclusive. Upon testing the doses of antinociceptive potency for methadone and morphine in Sprague-Dawley rats using the warm-water tail-withdrawal assay, the confidence intervals for methadone and morphine's antinociceptive doses did not overlap, and methadone was more potent than morphine in both males and females (Peckham and Traynor, 2006). However, a comparison of our study to this analysis may be not be appropriate because of the use of different nociceptive assays and species.





## B) Thermal Nociception Dose Response for Methadone









Figure 6. Methadone and morphine induce analgesia in female mice starting at 10 mg/kg. A) Comparison of 50% withdrawal threshold in grams during von Frey test across doses for both methadone and morphine. Shown is mean ± SEM. \*\*\*\*P<0.0001; one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's Multiple Comparisons Test. B) Comparison of time taken for animal to display nociceptive response on hot plate across doses for methadone and morphine. Shown is mean ± SEM. \*\*\*\*P<0.0001; one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's Multiple Comparisons Test. C)

Correlation of mechanical nociception and thermal nociception score across all drugs and doses. Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) and Simple Linear Regression displayed on plot.

After comparing the dose-response curves of the behavioral responses following administration with methadone and morphine, we then sought to understand whether the exposure to intermittent opioids induced changes in MOR and GalR1 mRNA co-expression in the RMTg, the GABAergic tail of the VTA that projects to and modulates the activity of dopaminergic neurons in the VTA. Because the location of this region is not standardized in brain atlases or the literature, we conducted RNAScope to mark dopaminergic neurons with TH and GABAergic neurons with GAD. We stained and imaged slices in series in the rostral to caudal direction to determine where VTA dopaminergic neurons transition to the RMTg GABAergic neurons (Figure 7A). After mapping those regions to a brain atlas, we took tissue from parts of series that matched the second (caudal) atlas image (Figure 7B). Because of this initial staining, we were able to stain sections from the presumptive RMTg and not the VTA proper. A)







**Figure 7. Identifying Location of RMTg using TH and GAD expression.** A) 16-micron sections were taken in series. The sections are displayed in ~50-micron rostral to caudal intervals and were stained for TH mRNA (red) as a marker for dopaminergic cells and GAD (green) as a marker for GABAergic cells. This series shows the shift from strong TH (rostral) to GAD (caudal) signal, indicating the presence of the RMTg in images 5 and 6. Representative white boxes were drawn in image 6, where images were taken for RMTg analysis. B) Sections 1 and 6 respectively mapped to images taken from the Allen Brain Atlas (Allen Mouse Brain Atlas).

We then took sections from the RMTg of CPP animals treated with saline, methadone 0.3 mg/kg, methadone 10 mg/kg, and morphine 10 mg/kg and stained for GABAergic neurons with GAD, cells expressing the OPRM gene (MOR), cells expressing GalR1 (GalR1), cells expressing both, and cells expressing neither. Regardless of treatment, ~46% of GAD+ cells expressed MOR alone, ~6% expressed GalR1 alone, ~18% co-expressed MOR and GalR1, and ~30% expressed neither MOR nor GalR1 (Figure 8A). Interestingly, the percentage of cells expressing only GalR1 did not appear to differ between GAD+ cells and GAD- cells (Figure 8B). In GAD- cells, ~33% expressed MOR alone, ~7% expressed GalR1 alone, ~8% co-expressed MOR and GalR1, and ~52% expressed neither MOR nor GalR1 (Figure 5A). No significant differences between treatment groups were found in GAD+ Cells (Figure 8C; F(3, 44)=1.908e-8, p>0.9999) or GAD- cells (Figure 8C; F(3, 44)=2.163e-8, p>0.9999). Although we did not statistically compare GAD+ cells to GAD- cells, inspection of the data revealed substantially higher percentages of GAD+ cells expressing MOR alone and co-expressing MOR and GalR1 when compared to GAD- cells.





GAD+ Cell Comparison



- Saline
- Methadone 0.3 mg/kg
- ▲ Methadone 10 mg/kg
- Morphine 10 mg/kg





- Saline
- Methadone 0.3 mg/kg
- ▲ Methadone 10 mg/kg
- Morphine 10 mg/kg

**Figure 8. Intermittent morphine or methadone exposure during CPP does not induce changes in GalR1 or MOR mRNA expression.** A) Representative image shows staining of GAD (green), GalR1 (red), MOR (cyan), and DAPI (blue). B) Summary stacked bar plots of GAD+ and GAD- cells across all images. C) Percent of GAD+ and GAD- cells expressing MOR and GalR1, MOR only, GalR1 only, and neither receptor was compared across treatment groups.

Shown is mean  $\pm$  SEM. No significant differences between treatment groups were found; 2-way ANOVA.

We also binned the number of GalR1 and MOR puncta across treatment groups to investigate potential expression changes on a per cell basis. No differences between treatment groups were shown for MOR puncta (Figure 9; F(3, 55)=1.919e-14, p>0.9999) or GalR1 puncta (Figure 6; F(3, 55)=6.608e-14, p>0.9999) across all cells. These findings demonstrate that 4 injections of morphine or methadone up to 10 mg/kg over 8 days did not induce changes in mRNA expression for MOR or GalR1 in the RMTg. It is possible that more chronic, higher dose regimens would induce changes in gene expression. In a thesis exploring mRNA expression of MOR and GalR1 following oral fentanyl administration in mice for four weeks, mice administered oral fentanyl showed decreases in GalR1 expression in both GAD+ and GAD- cells in the NAc when compared to mice administered with saccharin, a control sweet compound with intrinsic rewarding properties. No changes were observed in co-expression of MOR and GalR1 or MOR alone (Chen, 2021). Because mRNA abundance does not always predict protein levels, and MOR trafficking affects its function but not total amounts, it is possible that changes are occurring that we cannot detect by RNAScope. Assessing the overlap of MOR and GalR1 protein has been challenging due to the lack of specific antibodies for GalR1. However, the recent development of a GalR1-mCherry knockin mouse has made these experiments more feasible, and we are currently optimizing immunohistochemical techniques to visualize MOR and GalR1 protein co-expression in our laboratory. Methadone's quick recycling back to the membrane via a beta-arrestin-mediated mechanism following activation and morphine's longer phosphorylation and internalization may suggest higher receptor levels following methadone exposure when compared to morphine.



Number of Puncta (Bins)

**Figure 9. Intermittent morphine or methadone exposure during CPP does not induce changes in GalR1 or MOR puncta that is dependent on the level of expression**. No significant differences in the number of MOR or GalR1 puncta per cell were observed between treatment groups; 2-way ANOVA.

This thesis showed that methadone produces similar analgesia and lower reward when compared to morphine without inducing differences in mRNA expression. However, this study has a few limitations. The transcriptomic research presented in this study does not clarify much about differences in signal transduction pathway activation between methadone and morphine. The data simply shows that mRNA expression may not be the site of regulation following intermittent exposure. Future research with immunohistochemistry may be much better for answering questions related to sites of regulation for the heteromer following methadone and morphine activation. The behavioral data was also limited by the potential of observer bias. More stringent studies have blinded the experimenter to doses and treatments given to animals to ensure that qualitative measurements of a nociceptive reaction are not impacted by observer bias (He et al., 2021). Our hot plate videos were scored by both a blind and a non-blind researcher to mitigate this limitation. The antinociception assays also only tested nociceptive responses to acute pain following acute opioid administration, and not chronic pain or following chronic opioid administration. Attenuation of acute pain following acute opioid administration is simply one dimension to understand opioid antinociception. Similarly CPP data is only one measure of abuse liability that does not capture opioid-related reward through an operant-learning lens, like self-administration tasks. Finally, our study could have benefited from testing both male and female mice to examine sex differences. Future research could explore these trends in male mice. Despite these limitations, our study has several strengths. This is the first study to directly compare the rewarding and analgesic properties of methadone and morphine in the same experimental design. As a behavioral assay, CPP represents reward-based associative learning that models the contextual cues that contribute to drug craving and relapse for individuals recovering from drug abuse. Our behavioral data also aligned well with established work

surrounding the relative potencies of morphine and methadone for activating the MOR-GalR1 heteromer. (Cai et al., 2019). Finally, our data also showed the effect of a wide range of doses in abuse liability and analgesia, providing a comprehensive comparison of methadone and morphine in a preclinical mouse model.

Recent pharmacological efforts related to solving the opioid crisis have focused on maximizing antinociception while reducing side-effects like abuse liability and respiratory depression, such as the development of analgesics with G-protein-biased signaling (Azevedo Neto et al., 2020). Cebranopadol, one of these compounds currently in clinical trials, simultaneously activates the nociceptin opioid receptor (NOP) and the mu-opioid receptor (MOR), showing higher therapeutic value and more favorable side-effects (Linz et al., 2014). Advancements in computational pharmacology have allowed researchers to test millions of molecules that bias MOR activation towards G-protein signaling in silico (Manglik et al., 2016). Our behavioral results suggest that MOR-GalR1 heteromer activation should be taken into account as well, using the structure of methadone as a backbone. Further consideration for using methadone itself as a first line analgesic is also warranted. This study provides evidence for methadone as a first-line analgesic as it provides similar analgesia while lowering abuse liability when compared to morphine - the gold standard for first-line analgesia. When compared to other alternative replacement therapies such as buprenorphine and L- $\alpha$ -acetylmethadol, methadone is the most effective in retaining patients and suppressing heroin use (Amato et al., 2005). However, because methadone can only be distributed in opioid treatment programs, which are restricted by inadequate public funding and unfavorable regulations, patients either remain on waitlists for years or travel hundreds of miles to receive methadone treatment (Sigmon, 2013; Rosenblum et al., 2011). An improvement in public opinion surrounding methadone is needed to

unfetter access to methadone maintenance treatment. A better understanding of methadone's abuse liability and analgesia could better inform public opinion on methadone.

## Conclusion

Our study directly compared the analgesic and rewarding properties of methadone and morphine in female mice. While methadone and morphine induced similar analgesia at the doses we tested, methadone required a higher dose to induce a CPP when compared to morphine. This difference in preference was not related to changes in mRNA expression for MOR or GalR1. These findings align with previous reports that the MOR-GalR1 heteromer mediates activation by MOR agonists in the reward circuit, while only the MOR mediates activation in the analgesic circuit. Because methadone is less potent at activating the heteromer than morphine but has similar potency for activating MOR alone, methadone and morphine differ in abuse liability but not analgesic properties.

## Works Cited

Ahmadi Soleimani, S. M., Mohamadi M.A.H, M. H., Raoufy, M. R., Azizi, H., Nasehi, M., & Zarrindast, M. R. (2018). Acute morphine administration alters the power of local field potentials in mesolimbic pathway of freely moving rats: Involvement of dopamine receptors. *Neuroscience* 

Letters, 686, 168–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.09.016

Alaei, H., & Ghobadi Pour, M. (2021). Stimulation and transient inactivation of ventral tegmental area modify reinstatement of acquisition phase of morphine-induced conditioned place preference in male rats. *Brain Research Bulletin*, *176*, 130–141.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2021.08.014

- Alvarez, V. A., Arttamangkul, S., Dang, V., Salem, A., Whistler, J. L., Zastrow, M. von, Grandy, D. K., & Williams, J. T. (2002). μ-Opioid Receptors: Ligand-Dependent Activation of Potassium Conductance, Desensitization, and Internalization. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *22*(13), 5769–5776. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-13-05769.2002
- Amato, L., Davoli, M., A.Perucci, C., Ferri, M., Faggiano, F., & Mattick, R. P. (2005). An overview of systematic reviews of the effectiveness of opiate maintenance therapies: Available evidence to inform clinical practice and research. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 28(4), 321–329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2005.02.007</u>
- Arden, J. R., Segredo, V., Wang, Z., Lameh, J., & Sadée, W. (1995). Phosphorylation and agonistspecific intracellular trafficking of an epitope-tagged mu-opioid receptor expressed in HEK 293 cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 65(4), 1636–1645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-</u> 4159.1995.65041636.x

- Arttamangkul, S., Leff, E. R., Koita, O., Birdsong, W. T., & Williams, J. T. (2019). Separation of Acute Desensitization and Long-Term Tolerance of μ-Opioid Receptors Is Determined by the Degree of C-Terminal Phosphorylation. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 96(4), 505–514. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.119.117358
- Arttamangkul, S., Quillinan, N., Low, M. J., von Zastrow, M., Pintar, J., & Williams, J. T. (2008). Differential Activation and Trafficking of Mu-opioid Receptors in Brain Slices. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 74(4), 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.108.048512
- Azevedo Neto, J., Costanzini, A., De Giorgio, R., Lambert, D. G., Ruzza, C., & Calò, G. (2020).
  Biased versus Partial Agonism in the Search for Safer Opioid Analgesics. *Molecules*, 25(17), 3870. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25173870</u>
- Bailey, C. P., Kelly, E., & Henderson, G. (2004). Protein Kinase C Activation Enhances Morphine-Induced Rapid Desensitization of μ-Opioid Receptors in Mature Rat Locus Ceruleus Neurons. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 66(6), 1592–1598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.104.004747</u>
- Bannon, A. W., & Malmberg, A. B. (2007). Models of Nociception: Hot-Plate, Tail-Flick, and Formalin Tests in Rodents. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*, 41(1).

https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142301.ns0809s41

- Bardo, M. T., Neisewander, J. L., & Pierce, R. C. (1989). Novelty-induced place preference behavior in rats: Effects of opiate and dopaminergic drugs. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 32(3), 683–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(89)90018-x</u>
- Becker, J. B., & Chartoff, E. (2019). Sex differences in neural mechanisms mediating reward and addiction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 44(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0125-6</u>

- Behbehani, M. M., Jiang, M., Chandler, S. D., & Ennis, M. (1990). The effect of GABA and its antagonists on midbrain periaqueductal gray neurons in the rat. *Pain*, 40(2), 195–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(90)90070-T</u>
- Beier, K. T., Steinberg, E. E., DeLoach, K. E., Xie, S., Miyamichi, K., Schwarz, L., Gao, X. J.,
  Kremer, E. J., Malenka, R. C., & Luo, L. (2015). Circuit Architecture of VTA Dopamine
  Neurons Revealed by Systematic Input-Output Mapping. *Cell*, *162*(3), 622–634.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.015
- Berhow, M. T., Hiroi, N., & Nestler, E. J. (1996). Regulation of ERK (extracellular signal regulated kinase), part of the neurotrophin signal transduction cascade, in the rat mesolimbic dopamine system by chronic exposure to morphine or cocaine. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *16*(15), 4707–4715.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-15-04707.1996

- Bernstein, M. A., & Welch, S. P. (1998). μ-Opioid receptor down-regulation and cAMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation in a mouse model of chronic morphine tolerance. *Molecular Brain Research*, 55(2), 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-328X(98)00005-9
- Blander, A., Hunt, T., Blair, R., & Amit, Z. (1984). Conditioned place preference: An evaluation of morphine's positive reinforcing properties. *Psychopharmacology*, 84(1), 124–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00432040
- Bohn, L. M., Gainetdinov, R. R., Sotnikova, T. D., Medvedev, I. O., Lefkowitz, R. J., Dykstra, L. A., & Caron, M. G. (2003). Enhanced Rewarding Properties of Morphine, but not Cocaine, in βarrestin-2 Knock-Out Mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *23*(32), 10265–10273. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-32-10265.2003

- Borgland, S. L., Connor, M., Osborne, P. B., Furness, J. B., & Christie, M. J. (2003). Opioid agonists have different efficacy profiles for G protein activation, rapid desensitization, and endocytosis of mu-opioid receptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(21), 18776–18784. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M300525200
- Bozarth, M. A., & Wise, R. A. (1981). Intracranial self-administration of morphine into the ventral tegmental area in rats. *Life Sciences*, 28(5), 551–555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-</u> 3205(81)90148-X
- Bruera, E., Palmer, J. L., Bosnjak, S., Rico, M. A., Moyano, J., Sweeney, C., Strasser, F., Willey, J.,
  Bertolino, M., Mathias, C., Spruyt, O., & Fisch, M. J. (2004). Methadone Versus Morphine As a
  First-Line Strong Opioid for Cancer Pain: A Randomized, Double-Blind Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22(1), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.03.172
- Bu, H., Liu, X., Tian, X., Yang, H., & Gao, F. (2015). Enhancement of morphine analgesia and prevention of morphine tolerance by downregulation of β-arrestin 2 with antigene RNAs in mice. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, *125*(1), 56–65.

https://doi.org/10.3109/00207454.2014.896913

- Cai, N.-S., Quiroz, C., Bonaventura, J., Bonifazi, A., Cole, T. O., Purks, J., Billing, A. S., Massey, E., Wagner, M., Wish, E. D., Guitart, X., Rea, W., Lam, S., Moreno, E., Casadó-Anguera, V., Greenblatt, A. D., Jacobson, A. E., Rice, K. C., Casadó, V., ... Ferré, S. (2019, July 1). *Opioid–galanin receptor heteromers mediate the dopaminergic effects of opioids*. American Society for Clinical Investigation. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI126912
- Campbell, C. I., Weisner, C., LeResche, L., Ray, G. T., Saunders, K., Sullivan, M. D., Banta-Green,C. J., Merrill, J. O., Silverberg, M. J., Boudreau, D., Satre, D. D., & Von Korff, M. (2010). Age

and Gender Trends in Long-Term Opioid Analgesic Use for Noncancer Pain. *American Journal* of Public Health, 100(12), 2541–2547. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.180646</u>

- Campos-Jurado, Y., Igual-López, M., Padilla, F., Zornoza, T., Granero, L., Polache, A., Agustín-Pavón, C., & Hipólito, L. (2019). Activation of MORs in the VTA induces changes on cFos expression in different projecting regions: Effect of inflammatory pain. *Neurochemistry International*, 131, 104521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2019.104521
- Chalmers, C. J., Gilley, R., March, H. N., Balmanno, K., & Cook, S. J. (2007). The duration of ERK1/2 activity determines the activation of c-Fos and Fra-1 and the composition and quantitative transcriptional output of AP-1. *Cellular Signalling*, *19*(4), 695–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2006.09.001
- Chaplan, S. R., Bach, F. W., Pogrel, J. W., Chung, J. M., & Yaksh, T. L. (1994). Quantitative assessment of tactile allodynia in the rat paw. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 53(1), 55–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0270(94)90144-9</u>
- Chaves, C., Remiao, F., Cisternino, S., & Decleves, X. (2017). Opioids and the Blood-Brain Barrier:
   A Dynamic Interaction with Consequences on Drug Disposition in Brain. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 15(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X15666170504095823</u>
- Childress, A. R., McLellan, A. T., & O'Brien, C. P. (1986). Role of conditioning factors in the development of drug dependence. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 9(3), 413–425.
- Cicero, T. J., Lynskey, M., Todorov, A., Inciardi, J. A., & Surratt, H. L. (2008). Co-morbid pain and psychopathology in males and females admitted to treatment for opioid analgesic abuse ☆. PAIN, 139(1), 127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.03.021

- Cicero, T. J., Wong, G., Tian, Y., Lynskey, M., Todorov, A., & Isenberg, K. (2009). Co-morbidity and utilization of medical services by pain patients receiving opioid medications: Data from an insurance claims database. *Pain*, *144*(1–2), 20–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.01.026</u>
- Corre, J., van Zessen, R., Loureiro, M., Patriarchi, T., Tian, L., Pascoli, V., & Lüscher, C. (2018).
   Dopamine neurons projecting to medial shell of the nucleus accumbens drive heroin
   reinforcement. *ELife*, 7, e39945. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.39945</u>
- Crespo, L. G. S. C., Leite Júnior, J. B., de Mello Bastos, J. M., Samuels, R. I., Coimbra, N. C., Carey, R. J., & Carrera, M. P. (2022). Context evoked morphine conditioned effects can be equivalent to morphine induced drug effects in terms of behavioral response and ERK activation in reward associated subcortical brain structures. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 214*, 173356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2022.173356
- Dagenais, C., Graff, C. L., & Pollack, G. M. (2004). Variable modulation of opioid brain uptake by Pglycoprotein in mice. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 67(2), 269–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2003.08.027
- Dang, V. C., Napier, I. A., & Christie, M. J. (2009). Two Distinct Mechanisms Mediate Acute μ-Opioid Receptor Desensitization in Native Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(10), 3322– 3327. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4749-08.2009
- David, V., Matifas, A., Gavello-Baudy, S., Decorte, L., Kieffer, B. L., & Cazala, P. (2008). Brain regional Fos expression elicited by the activation of mu- but not delta-opioid receptors of the ventral tegmental area: Evidence for an implication of the ventral thalamus in opiate reward. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *33*(7), 1746–1759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301529</u>

- Davis, W. M., & Smith, S. G. (1976). Role of conditioned reinforcers in the initiation, maintenance and extinction of drug-seeking behavior. *The Pavlovian Journal of Biological Science*, 11(4), 222–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03000316</u>
- de Guglielmo, G., Melis, M., De Luca, M. A., Kallupi, M., Li, H. W., Niswender, K., Giordano, A., Senzacqua, M., Somaini, L., Cippitelli, A., Gaitanaris, G., Demopulos, G., Damadzic, R., Tapocik, J., Heilig, M., & Ciccocioppo, R. (2015). PPARγ activation attenuates opioid consumption and modulates mesolimbic dopamine transmission. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *40*(4), 927–937. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.268
- De Oliveira, P. A., Moreno, E., Casajuana-Martin, N., Casadó-Anguera, V., Cai, N.-S., Camacho-Hernandez, G. A., Zhu, H., Bonifazi, A., Hall, M. D., Weinshenker, D., Newman, A. H., Logothetis, D. E., Casadó, V., Plant, L. D., Pardo, L., & Ferré, S. (2022). Preferential Gs protein coupling of the galanin Gal1 receptor in the μ-opioid-Gal1 receptor heterotetramer. *Pharmacological Research*, *182*, 106322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106322</u>
- Deng, M., Zhang, Z., Xing, M., Liang, X., Li, Z., Wu, J., Jiang, S., Weng, Y., Guo, Q., & Zou, W. (2022). LncRNA MRAK159688 facilitates morphine tolerance by promoting REST-mediated inhibition of mu opioid receptor in rats. *Neuropharmacology*, 206, 108938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2021.108938
- Depaulis, A., Morgan, M. M., & Liebeskind, J. C. (1987). GABAergic modulation of the analgesic effects of morphine microinjected in the ventral periaqueductal gray matter of the rat. *Brain Research*, 436(2), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(87)91665-9

- Deuis, J. R., Dvorakova, L. S., & Vetter, I. (2017). Methods Used to Evaluate Pain Behaviors in Rodents. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 10, 284. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00284
- Dixon, W. J. (1965). The Up-and-Down Method for Small Samples. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 60(312), 967–978. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1965.10480843
- Doi, S., Mori, T., Uzawa, N., Arima, T., Takahashi, T., Uchida, M., Yawata, A., Narita, M., Uezono, Y., Suzuki, T., & Narita, M. (2016). Characterization of methadone as a β-arrestin-biased μ-opioid receptor agonist. *Molecular Pain*, *12*, 1744806916654146.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806916654146
- Dole, V. P., & Nyswander, M. (1965). A Medical Treatment for Diacetylmorphine (Heroin)
   Addiction: A Clinical Trial With Methadone Hydrochloride. *JAMA*, *193*(8), 646–650.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1965.03090080008002">https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1965.03090080008002</a>
- Eap, C. B., Buclin, T., & Baumann, P. (2002). Interindividual Variability of the Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Methadone. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, *41*(14), 1153–1193. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200241140-00003
- Edwards, N. J., Tejeda, H. A., Pignatelli, M., Zhang, S., McDevitt, R. A., Wu, J., Bass, C. E., Bettler,
  B., Morales, M., & Bonci, A. (2017). Circuit specificity in the inhibitory architecture of the VTA regulates cocaine-induced behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(3), 438–448.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4482

Ehret, G. B., Desmeules, J. A., & Broers, B. (2007). Methadone-associated long QT syndrome: Improving pharmacotherapy for dependence on illegal opioids and lessons learned for pharmacology. *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety*, 6(3), 289–303.

https://doi.org/10.1517/14740338.6.3.289

- Einstein, E. B., Asaka, Y., Yeckel, M. F., Higley, M. J., & Picciotto, M. R. (2013). Galanin-induced decreases in nucleus accumbens/striatum EPSPs and morphine conditioned place preference require both GalR1 and GalR2. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(9), 1541–1549. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12151
- Enquist, J., Ferwerda, M., Milan-Lobo, L., & Whistler, J. L. (2012). Chronic Methadone Treatment Shows a Better Cost/Benefit Ratio than Chronic Morphine in Mice. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *340*(2), 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.111.187583
- Erbs, E., Faget, L., Scherrer, G., Matifas, A., Filliol, D., Vonesch, J.-L., Koch, M., Kessler, P., Hentsch, D., Birling, M.-C., Koutsourakis, M., Vasseur, L., Veinante, P., Kieffer, B. L., & Massotte, D. (2015). A mu–delta opioid receptor brain atlas reveals neuronal co-occurrence in subcortical networks. *Brain Structure and Function*, 220(2), 677–702. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0717-9
- Fareed, A., Vayalapalli, S., Stout, S., Casarella, J., Drexler, K., & Bailey, S. P. (2010). Effect of Methadone Maintenance Treatment on Heroin Craving, a Literature Review. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 30(1), 27–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2010.531672</u>
- Ferguson, S. S. G., Zhang, J., Barakt, L. S., & Caron, M. G. (1998). Molecular mechanisms of G protein-coupled receptor desensitization and resensitization. *Life Sciences*, 62(17), 1561–1565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(98)00107-6</u>
- Fischer, B. D., Carrigan, K. A., & Dykstra, L. A. (2005). Effects of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Antagonists on Acute Morphine-Induced and l-Methadone-Induced Antinociception in Mice. *The Journal of Pain*, 6(7), 425–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2005.02.003

- Foo, H., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2000). Expression of antinociception in response to a signal for shock is blocked after selective downregulation of μ-opioid receptors in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Molecular Brain Research*, 76(2), 282–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-328X(00)00009-7</u>
- Foster, S. L., Galaj, E., Karne, S. L., Ferré, S., & Weinshenker, D. (2021). Cell-type specific expression and behavioral impact of galanin and GalR1 in the locus coeruleus during opioid withdrawal. *Addiction Biology*, 26(5), e13037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.13037</u>
- Gabra, B. H., Bailey, C. P., Kelly, E., Sanders, A. V., Henderson, G., Smith, F. L., & Dewey, W. L.
  (2007). Evidence for an important role of protein phosphatases in the mechanism of morphine tolerance. *Brain Research*, *1159*, 86–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2007.05.017</u>
- Gach, K., Piestrzeniewicz, M., Fichna, J., Stefanska, B., Szemraj, J., & Janecka, A. (2008). Opioidinduced regulation of mu-opioid receptor gene expression in the MCF-7 breast cancer cell line. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology = Biochimie Et Biologie Cellulaire*, 86(3), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1139/o08-001
- Gades, N. M., Danneman, P. J., Wixson, S. K., & Tolley, E. A. (2000). The magnitude and duration of the analgesic effect of morphine, butorphanol, and buprenorphine in rats and mice. *Contemporary Topics in Laboratory Animal Science*, 39(2), 8–13.
- Galaj, E., Han, X., Shen, H., Jordan, C. J., He, Y., Humburg, B., Bi, G.-H., & Xi, Z.-X. (2020).
  Dissecting the Role of GABA Neurons in the VTA versus SNr in Opioid Reward. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 40(46), 8853–8869. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0988-20.2020</u>
- Gerrits, M. A. F. M., & Van Ree, J. M. (1996). Effect of nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion on motivational aspects involved in initiation of cocaine and heroin self-administration in rats. *Brain Research*, 713(1), 114–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(95)01491-8</u>

Grenhoff, J., Nisell, M., Ferré, S., Aston-Jones, G., & Svensson, T. H. (1993). Noradrenergic modulation of midbrain dopamine cell firing elicited by stimulation of the locus coeruleus in the rat. *Journal of Neural Transmission. General Section*, 93(1), 11–25.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01244934

- Grissinger, M. (2011). Keeping Patients Safe From Methadone Overdoses. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, *36*(8), 462–466.
- Gruber, S. A., Silveri, M. M., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2007). Neuropsychological consequences of opiate use. *Neuropsychology Review*, 17(3), 299–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-007-9041-</u>
- Gysling, K., & Wang, R. Y. (1983). Morphine-induced activation of A10 dopamine neurons in the rat. *Brain Research*, 277(1), 119–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(83)90913-7</u>
- Harris, G. C., Wimmer, M., Byrne, R., & Aston-Jones, G. (2004). Glutamate-associated plasticity in the ventral tegmental area is necessary for conditioning environmental stimuli with morphine. *Neuroscience*, 129(3), 841–847. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.09.018</u>
- Hawes, J. J., Brunzell, D. H., Narasimhaiah, R., Langel, Ű., Wynick, D., & Picciotto, M. R. (2008).
  Galanin protects against behavioral and neurochemical correlates of opiate reward. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(8), 1864–1873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301579</u>
- Hawes, J. J., Brunzell, D. H., Wynick, D., Zachariou, V., & Picciotto, M. R. (2005). GalR1, but not
  GalR2 or GalR3, levels are regulated by galanin signaling in the locus coeruleus through a cyclic
  AMP-dependent mechanism. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *93*(5), 1168–1176.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03105.x

- He, L., Fong, J., von Zastrow, M., & Whistler, J. L. (2002). Regulation of Opioid Receptor Trafficking and Morphine Tolerance by Receptor Oligomerization. *Cell*, 108(2), 271–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00613-X</u>
- He, L., Gooding, S. W., Lewis, E., Felth, L. C., Gaur, A., & Whistler, J. L. (2021). Pharmacological and genetic manipulations at the μ-opioid receptor reveal arrestin-3 engagement limits analgesic tolerance and does not exacerbate respiratory depression in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 46(13), Article 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-021-01054-x</u>
- He, L., Kim, J., Ou, C., McFadden, W., van Rijn, R. M., & Whistler, J. L. (2009). Methadone
  Antinociception Is Dependent on Peripheral Opioid Receptors. *The Journal of Pain*, *10*(4), 369–379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2008.09.011</u>
- Hnasko, T. S., Sotak, B. N., & Palmiter, R. D. (2005). Morphine reward in dopamine-deficient mice. *Nature*, *438*(7069), 854–857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04172</u>
- Holtman, J. R., & Wala, E. P. (2007). Characterization of the Antinociceptive and Pronociceptive Effects of Methadone in Rats. *Anesthesiology*, *106*(3), 563–571.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-200703000-00022

- Hołuj, M., Bisaga, A., & Popik, P. (2013). Conditioned rewarding effects of morphine and methadone in mice pre-exposed to cocaine. *Pharmacological Reports: PR*, 65(5), 1176–1184.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/s1734-1140(13)71475-0
- Hu, W., Bi, Y., Zhang, K., Meng, F., & Zhang, J. (2011). High-frequency electrical stimulation in the nucleus accumbens of morphine-treated rats suppresses neuronal firing in reward-related brain regions. *Medical Science Monitor : International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 17(6), BR153–BR160. <u>https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.881802</u>

- Inturrisi, C. E., Max, M. B., Foley, K. M., Schultz, M., Shin, S. U., & Houde, R. W. (1984). The pharmacokinetics of heroin in patients with chronic pain. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *310*(19), 1213–1217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198405103101902</u>
- Jalabert, M., Bourdy, R., Courtin, J., Veinante, P., Manzoni, O. J., Barrot, M., & Georges, F. (2011). Neuronal circuits underlying acute morphine action on dopamine neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(39), 16446–16450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105418108</u>
- Jiang, J.-X., Liu, H., Huang, Z.-Z., Cui, Y., Zhang, X.-Q., Zhang, X.-L., Cui, Y., & Xin, W.-J. (2018). The role of CA3-LS-VTA loop in the formation of conditioned place preference induced by context-associated reward memory for morphine. *Addiction Biology*, 23(1), 41–54.

https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12468

- Johnson, S. W., & North, R. A. (1992). Opioids excite dopamine neurons by hyperpolarization of local interneurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 12(2), 483–488.
- Kariisa, M. (2022). Vital Signs: Drug Overdose Deaths, by Selected Sociodemographic and Social
   Determinants of Health Characteristics 25 States and the District of Columbia, 2019–2020.
   MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 71. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7129e2
- Keith, D. E., Murray, S. R., Zaki, P. A., Chu, P. C., Lissin, D. V., Kang, L., Evans, C. J., & von Zastrow, M. (1996). Morphine activates opioid receptors without causing their rapid internalization. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(32), 19021–19024. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.32.19021
- Kelle, A. E., Stinus, L., & Iversen, S. D. (1980). Interactions between d-Ala-Met-enkephalin, A10 dopaminergic neurones, and spontaneous behaviour in the rat. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 1(1), 3–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(80)90043-1</u>

Kerr, N., Holmes, F. E., Hobson, S.-A., Vanderplank, P., Leard, A., Balthasar, N., & Wynick, D. (2015). The generation of knock-in mice expressing fluorescently tagged galanin receptors 1 and 2. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 68, 258–271.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2015.08.006

Kliewer, A., Gillis, A., Hill, R., Schmiedel, F., Bailey, C., Kelly, E., Henderson, G., Christie, M. J., & Schulz, S. (2020). Morphine-induced respiratory depression is independent of β-arrestin2 signalling. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *177*(13), 2923–2931.

https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.15004

- Koo, J. W., Mazei-Robison, M. S., Chaudhury, D., Juarez, B., LaPlant, Q., Ferguson, D., Feng, J., Sun, H., Scobie, K. N., Damez-Werno, D., Crumiller, M., Ohnishi, Y. N., Ohnishi, Y. H., Mouzon, E., Dietz, D. M., Lobo, M. K., Neve, R. L., Russo, S. J., Han, M.-H., & Nestler, E. J. (2012). BDNF Is a Negative Modulator of Morphine Action. *Science*, *338*(6103), 124–128. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1222265
- Koob, G. F. (1992). Drugs of abuse: Anatomy, pharmacology and function of reward pathways.
   *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *13*, 177–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-6147(92)90060-</u>
   J
- Kreek, M. J., Borg, L., Ducat, E., & Ray, B. (2010). Pharmacotherapy in the Treatment of Addiction: Methadone. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 29(2), 200–216.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10550881003684798

Kreek, M. J., Oratz, M., & Rothschild, M. A. (1978). Hepatic extraction of long- and short-acting narcotics in the isolated perfused rabbit liver. *Gastroenterology*, 75(1), 88–94.

- Lammel, S., Hetzel, A., Häckel, O., Jones, I., Liss, B., & Roeper, J. (2008). Unique properties of mesoprefrontal neurons within a dual mesocorticolimbic dopamine system. *Neuron*, 57(5), 760–773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.01.022</u>
- Lane, D. A., Patel, P. A., & Morgan, M. M. (2005). Evidence for an intrinsic mechanism of antinociceptive tolerance within the ventrolateral periaqueductal gray of rats. *Neuroscience*, *135*(1), 227–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.06.014</u>
- Lang, R., Gundlach, A. L., Holmes, F. E., Hobson, S. A., Wynick, D., Hökfelt, T., & Kofler, B. (2015). Physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of galanin peptides and receptors: Three decades of emerging diversity. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 67(1), 118–175.

https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.112.006536

Lecca, S., Melis, M., Luchicchi, A., Muntoni, A. L., & Pistis, M. (2012). Inhibitory inputs from rostromedial tegmental neurons regulate spontaneous activity of midbrain dopamine cells and their responses to drugs of abuse. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(5), 1164–1176.

https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2011.302

- Lee, P.-W., & Lee, Y.-M. (2003). Transcriptional regulation of mu opioid receptor gene by cAMP pathway. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *64*(6), 1410–1418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.64.6.1410</u>
- Lewanowitsch, T., Miller, J. H., & Irvine, R. J. (2006). Reversal of morphine, methadone and heroin induced effects in mice by naloxone methiodide. *Life Sciences*, 78(7), 682–688.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2005.05.062

Ligeza, A., Wawrzczak-Bargiela, A., Kaminska, D., Korostynski, M., & Przewlocki, R. (2008). Regulation of ERK1/2 phosphorylation by acute and chronic morphine – implications for the role of cAMP-responsive element binding factor (CREB)-dependent and Ets-like protein-1 (Elk1)-dependent transcription; small interfering RNA-based strategy. *The FEBS Journal*, 275(15), 3836–3849. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06531.x

- Linz, K., Christoph, T., Tzschentke, T. M., Koch, T., Schiene, K., Gautrois, M., Schröder, W., Kögel, B. Y., Beier, H., Englberger, W., Schunk, S., De Vry, J., Jahnel, U., & Frosch, S. (2014).
  Cebranopadol: A novel potent analgesic nociceptin/orphanin FQ peptide and opioid receptor agonist. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *349*(3), 535–548.
  https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.114.213694
- Lu, Z., Xu, J., Xu, M., Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2014). Morphine regulates expression of μopioid receptor MOR-1A, an intron-retention carboxyl terminal splice variant of the μ-opioid receptor (OPRM1) gene via miR-103/miR-107. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 85(2), 368–380. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.113.089292
- Lynch, W. J., & Carroll, M. E. (1999). Sex differences in the acquisition of intravenously selfadministered cocaine and heroin in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 144(1), 77–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130050979</u>
- Ma, X., Chen, R., Huang, M., Wang, W., Luo, L., Kim, D. K., Jiang, W., & Xu, T. (2020). DAMGOinduced μ opioid receptor internalization and recycling restore morphine sensitivity in tolerant rat. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 878, 173118.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173118

- Macey, T. A., Lowe, J. D., & Chavkin, C. (2006). Mu Opioid Receptor Activation of ERK1/2 Is
  GRK3 and Arrestin Dependent in Striatal Neurons. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(45), 34515–34524. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M604278200</u>
- Manglik, A., Lin, H., Aryal, D. K., McCorvy, J. D., Dengler, D., Corder, G., Levit, A., Kling, R. C., Bernat, V., Hübner, H., Huang, X.-P., Sassano, M. F., Giguère, P. M., Löber, S., Da Duan,

Scherrer, G., Kobilka, B. K., Gmeiner, P., Roth, B. L., & Shoichet, B. K. (2016). Structure-based discovery of opioid analgesics with reduced side effects. *Nature*, *537*(7619), Article 7619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19112</u>

- Martini, L., & Whistler, J. L. (2007). The role of mu opioid receptor desensitization and endocytosis in morphine tolerance and dependence. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *17*(5), 556–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2007.10.004
- Matsui, A., Jarvie, B. C., Robinson, B. G., Hentges, S. T., & Williams, J. T. (2014). Separate GABA afferents to dopamine neurons mediate acute action of opioids, development of tolerance and expression of withdrawal. *Neuron*, 82(6), 1346–1356.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.030

- Matsui, A., & Williams, J. T. (2011). Opioid-Sensitive GABA Inputs from Rostromedial Tegmental Nucleus Synapse onto Midbrain Dopamine Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(48), 17729– 17735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4570-11.2011</u>
- Matthes, H. W., Maldonado, R., Simonin, F., Valverde, O., Slowe, S., Kitchen, I., Befort, K., Dierich, A., Le Meur, M., Dollé, P., Tzavara, E., Hanoune, J., Roques, B. P., & Kieffer, B. L. (1996).
  Loss of morphine-induced analgesia, reward effect and withdrawal symptoms in mice lacking the mu-opioid-receptor gene. *Nature*, 383(6603), 819–823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/383819a0</u>
- McClung, C. A., Nestler, E. J., & Zachariou, V. (2005). Regulation of Gene Expression by Chronic Morphine and Morphine Withdrawal in the Locus Ceruleus and Ventral Tegmental Area. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(25), 6005–6015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0062-</u>05.2005

- McKendrick, G., & Graziane, N. M. (2020). Drug-Induced Conditioned Place Preference and Its Practical Use in Substance Use Disorder Research. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *14*. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh.2020.582147</u>
- McNamara, C. G., Tejero-Cantero, Á., Trouche, S., Campo-Urriza, N., & Dupret, D. (2014).
   Dopaminergic neurons promote hippocampal reactivation and spatial memory persistence.
   *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(12), 1658–1660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3843</u>
- Minami, K., Hasegawa, M., Ito, H., Nakamura, A., Tomii, T., Matsumoto, M., Orita, S., Matsushima, S., Miyoshi, T., Masuno, K., Torii, M., Koike, K., Shimada, S., Kanemasa, T., Kihara, T., Narita, M., Suzuki, T., & Kato, A. (2009). Morphine, Oxycodone, and Fentanyl Exhibit Different
  Analgesic Profiles in Mouse Pain Models. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, *111*(1), 60–72. https://doi.org/10.1254/jphs.09139FP
- Moaddab, M., Haghparast, A., & Hassanpour-Ezatti, M. (2009). Effects of reversible inactivation of the ventral tegmental area on the acquisition and expression of morphine-induced conditioned place preference in the rat. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *198*(2), 466–471.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.11.030

- Mogil, J. S. (2009). Animal models of pain: Progress and challenges. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *10*(4), 283–294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2606</u>
- Moreau, J. L., & Fields, H. L. (1986). Evidence for GABA involvement in midbrain control of medullary neurons that modulate nociceptive transmission. *Brain Research*, 397(1), 37–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(86)91367-3</u>
- Moreira de Barros, G. A., Baradelli, R., Rodrigues, D. G., Toffoletto, O., Domingues, F. S., Gayoso, M. V., Lopes, A., Barros Afiune, J., & Nunes Guimarães, G. M. (2021). Use of methadone as an

alternative to morphine for chronic pain management: A noninferiority retrospective observational study. *PAIN Reports*, *6*(4), e979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.000000000000979</u>

- Moreno, E., Quiroz, C., Rea, W., Cai, N.-S., Mallol, J., Cortés, A., Lluís, C., Canela, E. I., Casadó, V., & Ferré, S. (2017). Functional μ-Opioid-Galanin Receptor Heteromers in the Ventral Tegmental Area. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(5), 1176–1186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2442-16.2016</u>
- Morgan, M. M., Reid, R. A., Stormann, T. M., & Lautermilch, N. J. (2014). Opioid selective antinociception following microinjection into the periaqueductal gray of the rat. *The Journal of Pain*, 15(11), 1102–1109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2014.07.008</u>
- Moulédous, L., Diaz, M. F., & Gutstein, H. B. (2004). Modulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activity by acute and chronic opioid treatment in neuronal and glial cell lines. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 90(6), 1371–1377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02610.x</u>
- Mucha, R. F., & Iversen, S. D. (1984). Reinforcing properties of morphine and naloxone revealed by conditioned place preferences: A procedural examination. *Psychopharmacology*, 82(3), 241–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00427782</u>
- Mucha, R. F., van der Kooy, D., O'Shaughnessy, M., & Bucenieks, P. (1982). Drug reinforcement studied by the use of place conditioning in rat. *Brain Research*, *243*(1), 91–105.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(82)91123-4

- Multiple Cause of Death, 1999-2020 Request. (n.d.). Retrieved October 20, 2022, from https://wonder.cdc.gov/mcd-icd10.html
- Narita, M., Matsushima, Y., Niikura, K., Narita, M., Takagi, S., Nakahara, K., Kurahashi, K., Abe,
  M., Saeki, M., Asato, M., Imai, S., Ikeda, K., Kuzumaki, N., & Suzuki, T. (2010). Implication of
  dopaminergic projection from the ventral tegmental area to the anterior cingulate cortex in μ-

opioid-induced place preference. Addiction Biology, 15(4), 434-447.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-1600.2010.00249.x

- Nestler, E. J. (2005). Is there a common molecular pathway for addiction? *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(11), Article 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1578</u>
- Oertel, B. G., Doehring, A., Roskam, B., Kettner, M., Hackmann, N., Ferreirós, N., Schmidt, P. H., & Lötsch, J. (2012). Genetic-epigenetic interaction modulates μ-opioid receptor regulation. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(21), 4751–4760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds314</u>

Omidian, H., Babanejad, N., & Omidi, Y. (2022). Opioid epidemic and the urge to discover new treatment options. *Drug Discovery Today*, 27(9), 2406–2410.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2022.05.025

- Pantouli, F., Grim, T. W., Schmid, C. L., Acevedo-Canabal, A., Kennedy, N. M., Bannister, T. D., & Bohn, L. M. (2020). *Comparison of morphine, oxycodone and the biased MOR agonist SR-17018 for tolerance and efficacy in mouse models of pain* (p. 2020.10.16.341776). bioRxiv. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.16.341776">https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.16.341776</a>
- Pathan, H., & Williams, J. (2012). Basic opioid pharmacology: An update. *British Journal of Pain*, 6(1), 11–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463712438493</u>
- Peckham, E. M., & Traynor, J. R. (2006). Comparison of the Antinociceptive Response to Morphine and Morphine-Like Compounds in Male and Female Sprague-Dawley Rats. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 316(3), 1195–1201. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.094276

Peng, X.-Q., Xi, Z.-X., Li, X., Spiller, K., Li, J., Chun, L., Wu, K.-M., Froimowitz, M., & Gardner, E. L. (2010). Is Slow-Onset Long-Acting Monoamine Transport Blockade to Cocaine as
Methadone is to Heroin? Implication for Anti-Addiction Medications.

Neuropsychopharmacology, 35(13), Article 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.133

- Pérez, S. E., Wynick, D., Steiner, R. A., & Mufson, E. J. (2001). Distribution of galaninergic immunoreactivity in the brain of the mouse. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 434(2), 158–185. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.1171
- Pergolizzi, J., Böger, R. H., Budd, K., Dahan, A., Erdine, S., Hans, G., Kress, H.-G., Langford, R., Likar, R., Raffa, R. B., & Sacerdote, P. (2008). Opioids and the management of chronic severe pain in the elderly: Consensus statement of an International Expert Panel with focus on the six clinically most often used World Health Organization Step III opioids (buprenorphine, fentanyl, hydromorphone, methadone, morphine, oxycodone). *Pain Practice: The Official Journal of World Institute of Pain*, 8(4), 287–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-2500.2008.00204.x</u>
- Perry, C. J., Zbukvic, I., Kim, J. H., & Lawrence, A. J. (2014). Role of cues and contexts on drugseeking behaviour. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 171(20), 4636–4672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12735</u>
- Petruzzi, R., Ferraro, T. N., Kürschner, V. C., Golden, G. T., & Berrettini, W. H. (1997). The effects of repeated morphine exposure on mu opioid receptor number and affinity in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice. *Life Sciences*, 61(20), 2057–2064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(97)00864-</u> <u>3</u>
- Pettit, H. O., Ettenberg, A., Bloom, F. E., & Koob, G. F. (1984). Destruction of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens selectively attenuates cocaine but not heroin self-administration in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 84(2), 167–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00427441</u>

- Prenus, R. V., Luscar, E., Zhu, Z.-P., Badisa, R. B., & Goodman, C. B. (2012). Regulation of mammalian MOR-1 gene expression after chronic treatment with morphine. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, *30*(6), 1493–1497. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1132</u>
- Quillinan, N., Lau, E. K., Virk, M., von Zastrow, M., & Williams, J. T. (2011). Recovery from μ-Opioid Receptor Desensitization after Chronic Treatment with Morphine and Methadone. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(12), 4434–4443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4874-</u> <u>10.2011</u>
- Raehal, K. M., & Bohn, L. M. (2011). The role of beta-arrestin2 in the severity of antinociceptive tolerance and physical dependence induced by different opioid pain therapeutics.
   *Neuropharmacology*, 60(1), 58–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.08.003</u>
- Reid, K. Z., Lemezis, B. M., Hou, T.-C., & Chen, R. (2022). Epigenetic Modulation of Opioid
   Receptors by Drugs of Abuse. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(19), 11804.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms231911804">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms231911804</a>
- Ricarte, A., Dalton, J. A. R., & Giraldo, J. (2021). Structural Assessment of Agonist Efficacy in the μ-Opioid Receptor: Morphine and Fentanyl Elicit Different Activation Patterns. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, *61*(3), 1251–1274.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jcim.0c00890

Rosenblum, A., Cleland, C. M., Fong, C., Kayman, D. J., Tempalski, B., & Parrino, M. (2011).
Distance Traveled and Cross-State Commuting to Opioid Treatment Programs in the United States. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2011, e948789.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/948789

Sadat-Shirazi, M.-S., Zarrindast, M.-R., Daneshparvar, H., Ziaie, A., Fekri, M., Abbasnezhad, E., Ashabi, G., Khalifeh, S., & Vousooghi, N. (2018). Alteration of dopamine receptors subtypes in

the brain of opioid abusers: A postmortem study in Iran. *Neuroscience Letters*, 687, 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.09.043

- Schulz, S., Mayer, D., Pfeiffer, M., Stumm, R., Koch, T., & Höllt, V. (2004). Morphine induces terminal μ-opioid receptor desensitization by sustained phosphorylation of serine-375. *The EMBO Journal*, 23(16), 3282–3289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600334</u>
- Shen, J., Benedict Gomes, A., Gallagher, A., Stafford, K., & Yoburn, B. C. (2000). Role of cAMPdependent protein kinase (PKA) in opioid agonist-induced μ-opioid receptor downregulation and tolerance in mice. *Synapse*, *38*(3), 322–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-</u> 2396(20001201)38:3<322::AID-SYN11>3.0.CO;2-1
- Sigmon, S. C. (2014). Access to Treatment for Opioid Dependence in Rural America: Challenges and Future Directions. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 71(4), 359–360. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.4450

Soderman, A. R., & Unterwald, E. M. (2008). Cocaine reward and hyperactivity in the rat: Sites of mu opioid receptor modulation. *Neuroscience*, 154(4), 1506–1516.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04.063

- Steffensen, S. C., Stobbs, S. H., Colago, E. E. O., Lee, R.-S., Koob, G. F., Gallegos, R. A., & Henriksen, S. J. (2006). Contingent and non-contingent effects of heroin on mu-opioid receptorcontaining ventral tegmental area GABA neurons. *Experimental Neurology*, 202(1), 139–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2006.05.023</u>
- Steinpreis, R. E., Rutell, A. L., & Parrett, F. A. (1996). Methadone produces conditioned place preference in the rat. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 54(2), 339–341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(95)02141-8</u>

- Tanowitz, M., & von Zastrow, M. (2003). A novel endocytic recycling signal that distinguishes the membrane trafficking of naturally occurring opioid receptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(46), 45978–45986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M304504200</u>
- Tatemoto, K., Rökaeus, Å., Jörnvall, H., McDonald, T. J., & Mutt, V. (1983). Galanin—A novel biologically active peptide from porcine intestine. *FEBS Letters*, 164(1), 124–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(83)80033-7</u>
- Tsuda, K., Tsuda, S., Nishio, I., Masuyama, Y., & Goldstein, M. (1998). Effects of galanin on dopamine release in the central nervous system of normotensive and spontaneously hypertensive rats. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 11(12), 1475–1479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-</u> 7061(98)00168-X
- Unick, G. J., Rosenblum, D., Mars, S., & Ciccarone, D. (2013). Intertwined Epidemics: National Demographic Trends in Hospitalizations for Heroin- and Opioid-Related Overdoses, 1993–2009.
   *PLoS ONE*, 8(2), e54496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054496</u>
- Vaccarino, F. J., Bloom, F. E., & Koob, G. F. (1985). Blockade of nucleus accumbens opiate receptors attenuates intravenous heroin reward in the rat. *Psychopharmacology*, 86(1–2), 37–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00431681</u>
- Valjent, E., Corvol, J. C., Pages, C., Besson, M. J., Maldonado, R., & Caboche, J. (2000).
  Involvement of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase cascade for cocaine-rewarding properties. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 20(23), 8701–8709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-23-08701.2000</u>
- Valjent, E., Pagès, C., Hervé, D., Girault, J.-A., & Caboche, J. (2004). Addictive and non-addictive drugs induce distinct and specific patterns of ERK activation in mouse brain. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(7), 1826–1836. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03278.x</u>

- Van Vliet, B. J., De Vries, T. J., Wardeh, G., Mulder, A. H., & Schoffelmeer, A. N. (1991). Mu-Opioid receptor-regulated adenylate cyclase activity in primary cultures of rat striatal neurons upon chronic morphine exposure. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 208(2), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/0922-4106(91)90060-u
- van Wolfswinkel, L., & van Ree, J. M. (1985). Site of rewarding action of morphine in the mesolimbic system determined by intracranial electrical self-stimulation. *Brain Research*, 358(1–2), 349–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(85)90982-5
- van Zessen, R., Phillips, J. L., Budygin, E. A., & Stuber, G. D. (2012). Activation of VTA GABA neurons disrupts reward consumption. *Neuron*, 73(6), 1184–1194.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.016

- Wagley, Y., Law, P.-Y., Wei, L.-N., & Loh, H. H. (2017). Epigenetic Activation of μ-Opioid
   Receptor Gene via Increased Expression and Function of Mitogen- and Stress-Activated Protein
   Kinase 1. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 91(4), 357–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.116.106567</u>
- Wakeman, S. E., Larochelle, M. R., Ameli, O., Chaisson, C. E., McPheeters, J. T., Crown, W. H., Azocar, F., & Sanghavi, D. M. (2020). Comparative Effectiveness of Different Treatment Pathways for Opioid Use Disorder. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(2), e1920622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20622</u>
- Wei, L.-N., & Loh, H. H. (2011). Transcriptional and Epigenetic Regulation of Opioid Receptor Genes—Present and Future. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 51, 75–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010510-100605</u>
- Weinshenker, D., & Holmes, P. V. (2016). Regulation of neurological and neuropsychiatric phenotypes by locus coeruleus-derived galanin. *Brain Research*, 1641(Pt B), 320–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2015.11.025</u>

- Williams, J. T., Christie, M. J., & Manzoni, O. (2001). Cellular and synaptic adaptations mediating opioid dependence. *Physiological Reviews*, *81*(1), 299–343.
   https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.2001.81.1.299
- Wu, Q., Hwang, C. K., Zheng, H., Wagley, Y., Lin, H.-Y., Kim, D. K., Law, P.-Y., Loh, H. H., & Wei, L.-N. (2013). MicroRNA 339 down-regulates μ-opioid receptor at the post-transcriptional level in response to opioid treatment. *FASEB Journal: Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 27(2), 522–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.12-</u>213439
- Xi, Z.-X., & Stein, E. A. (2000). Increased Mesolimbic GABA Concentration Blocks Heroin Self-Administration in the Rat. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 294(2), 613–619.
- Yaksh, T. L. (1997). Pharmacology and mechanisms of opioid analgesic activity. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, *41*(1 Pt 2), 94–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-6576.1997.tb04623.x</u>
- Yu, G., Yan, H., & Gong, Z.-H. (2012). Differential effects of acute and repeated morphine treatment on κ-opioid receptor mRNA levels in mesocorticolimbic system. *Pharmacological Reports: PR*, 64(2), 445–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1734-1140(12)70786-7</u>
- Zachariou, V., Georgescu, D., Kansal, L., Merriam, P., & Picciotto, M. R. (2001). Galanin receptor 1 gene expression is regulated by cyclic AMP through a CREB-dependent mechanism. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 76(1), 191–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00018.x</u>
- Zachariou, V., Parikh, K., & Picciotto, M. R. (1999). Centrally administered galanin blocks morphine place preference in the mouse. *Brain Research*, 831(1), 33–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01476-6</u>

- Zastrow, M. von, Svingos, A., Haberstock-Debic, H., & Evans, C. (2003). Regulated endocytosis of opioid receptors: Cellular mechanisms and proposed roles in physiological adaptation to opiate drugs. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *13*(3), 348–353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(03)00069-2</u>
- Zhang, S., Qi, J., Li, X., Wang, H.-L., Britt, J. P., Hoffman, A. F., Bonci, A., Lupica, C. R., & Morales, M. (2015). Dopaminergic and glutamatergic microdomains within a subset of rodent mesoaccumbens axons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(3), 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3945
- Zhao, X., Yun, K., Seese, R. R., & Wang, Z. (2013). Galnon facilitates extinction of morphineconditioned place preference but also potentiates the consolidation process. *PloS One*, 8(10), e76395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076395</u>
- Zhou, K., Xu, H., Lu, S., Jiang, S., Hou, G., Deng, X., He, M., & Zhu, Y. (2022). Reward and aversion processing by input-defined parallel nucleus accumbens circuits in mice. *Nature Communications*, 13(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-33843-3</u>
- Zijlstra, F., Veltman, D. J., Booij, J., van den Brink, W., & Franken, I. H. A. (2009). Neurobiological substrates of cue-elicited craving and anhedonia in recently abstinent opioid-dependent males. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 99(1–3), 183–192.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.07.012